



TECHNICAL REPORT

Risk assessment of HTLV-I/II transmission by tissue/cell transplantation

Part 2: Risks by tissue type, Impact of processing and effectiveness of prevention measures

www.ecdc.europa.eu

ECDC TECHNICAL REPORT

Risk assessment of HTLV-I/II transmission by tissue/cell transplantation

Part 2: Risks by tissue type, impact of processing and effectiveness of prevention measures



This report of the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC) was coordinated by Mika Salminen.

The report was reviewed by the following external experts: George Galea, National Tissue Services, Tissues and Cells Directorate, SNBTS, Edinburgh, UK Miklos Fuzi, Institute for Medical Microbiology, Semmelweis University, Budapest, Hungary Alojz Ihan, Inštitut za mikrobiologijo in imunologijo, Medicinska fakulteta, Ljubljana, Slovenia Franz Allerberger, Österreichische Agentur für Gesundheit (AGES), Austria Graham Taylor, Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust; National Centre for Human Retrovirology, St. Mary's Hospital, London UK Tomás Pumarola, University of Barcelona; Hospital Clinic-Microbiology Dept. (CDB), Spain

Isabelle Sainte-Marie, Agence Francaise de Securité Sanitaire des Produits de Santé, France.

Acknowledgements

The following internal ECDC experts participated in the evidence collection, assessment and drafting of the report: Daniel Palm, Otilia Sfetcu, Sybille Rehmet, Ana-Belen Escriva, Todd Weber and Piotr Kramarz.

This technical report is complemented by another technical report entitled 'HTLV-I/II transmission by tissue/cell transplantation. Part 1: Epidemiological review'.

Suggested citation: European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. Risk assessment of HTLV-I/II transmission by tissue/cell transplantation. Part 2: Risks by tissue type, impact of processing and effectiveness of prevention measures. Stockholm: ECDC; 2012.

Stockholm, June 2012 ISBN 978-92-9193-330-3 doi 10.2900/19942

© European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control, 2012 Reproduction is authorised, provided the source is acknowledged.

Contents

Abbreviations	
1 Executive summary (Part 2)	1
2 Request from the European Commission	3
3 Background and methods	4
4 HTLV-I/II infection and disease	7
Etiological agents	7
Disease presentation	7
Transmission mechanisms and tissue/cell tropism	8
Relevance for donations of cells and tissues	8
5 EU legal requirements on HTLV testing of tissue donations	9
6 Recent changes in tissue donor testing requirements in the US concerning HTLV-I/II infection	.10
7 Implications of changes in US HTLV-I/II testing requirements on tissue and cell donors for the EU	.13
8 Results of ECDC Review	.14
9 Discussion and conclusions	.20
Transmission in the context of tissue and cell donations (Question 2)	.20
Effectiveness of measures to prevent transmission (Question 3)	.21
10 Considerations	.22
References	.23
Annexes	.25

Abbreviations

AATB ATL/ATLL CLIA CoE ECDC EIA	American Association of Tissue Banks Adult T-cell leukaemia/lymphoma Chemiluminescence Immunoassay Council of Europe European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control Enzyme Immune Assay (= ELISA)
ELISA	Enzyme Linked Immune Sorbent Assay (= EIA)
EUTCD FDA HAM/TSP HCT/Ps HTLV HTLV-I HTLV-II HTLV-II HTLV-Ab NAT PBMC	European Union Tissues and Cells Directive Food and Drug Administration (United States) HTLV-I Associated Myelopathy/Tropical Spastic Paraparesis Human Cells, Tissues, and cellular and tissue-based Products (US regulation) Human T-lymphotropic Virus (used to describe all types) Human T-lymphotropic Virus, type I Human T-lymphotropic Virus, type II Antibodies specific for HTLV Nucleic Acid Test Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells
PTLV PVL	Primate T-lymphotropic Virus(es) Pro-viral Load

1 Executive summary (Part 2)

Introduction

An important part of ECDC's function is to provide its stakeholders with scientific advice upon their request. On 2 August 2010, ECDC received such a request from the European Commission's Directorate-General for Health and Consumers (DG SANCO) – Directorate C Public Health and Risk Assessment.

ECDC was asked to assess the epidemiological history of Human T-lymphotropic Virus (HTLV), possible risks of HTLV transmission through transplantation of human tissues and cells, and the possible measures to prevent such transmission, in particular with regard to tissues and cells imported from the United States. Testing for HTLV-I/II infection among most tissue and cell donors was recently discontinued in the US.

In the European Union, testing for HTLV-I is required for tissues and cells donors living in, or originating from highincidence areas, or with sexual partners originating from those areas, or where the donor's parents originate from those areas.

Methodology

In accordance with its internal procedures for providing scientific advice, ECDC addressed the question by setting up an ad hoc expert group of internal and external experts in the field. The expert group was set up in cooperation with the EU Commission's DG SANCO (Directorate C Public Health and Risk Assessment) and the EU Competent Authorities for Tissues and Cells. However, in accordance with its internal procedures, ECDC selected experts based on their individual scientific and professional qualifications.

After receiving clarifications on specific questions from the Commission, ECDC performed a literature review to capture all evidence available. The expert group then reviewed the scientific evidence, assessing its validity and generalisability in relation to the question asked.

ECDC is presenting the results of its assessment in two separate technical reports (Parts 1 and 2), of which this is the second part. This report addresses the potential risk of HTLV transmission through transplantation of human tissues and cells and possible measures to prevent such transmission, in particular in relation to tissues and cells imported from the United States.

Results and conclusions

The predominant modes of transmission for HTLV-I are blood components, infected mother's breast milk, sexual intercourse and the sharing of injection equipment among injecting drug users. One major difference in transmission risk compared to many other blood-borne infections is the exclusive association between transmission and the presence of infected cells of lymphocyte origin in blood and tissues. As almost no free virus is produced in vivo, cell-free blood components do not transmit infection. Refrigerator storage for a period of over two weeks seems to remove the risk of transmission in cell-containing blood components due to loss of viability of the lymphocytes. This is one reason for performing leukocyte reduction in blood service facilities. Transmission by infected cells only in the case of blood transfusion was found to be well supported by scientific evidence.

Transplanted tissues and cells as well as organs have been shown to transmit HTLV-I infection. According to both the AATB Standards and the FDA requirements¹, only those donors whose donations of cell and tissue are 'rich in viable leukocytes' need to be tested for HTLV-I/II infection. This is derived from experience with blood transfusion. A threshold of a total 10⁸ cells of viable leukocytes is considered by the AATB as indicative of transmission risk.

Assessment of the evidence could not conclude whether the findings for blood and blood components can be generalised to tissue and cell preparations of non-blood origin. Evidence for a generic threshold of a total 10⁸ cells of viable leukocyte class was found to be insufficient. The use of the current threshold of 10⁸ cells of viable leukocyte class to determine tissue safety in relation to HTLV-I/II transmission may still place individuals receiving cell and tissue transplants at risk of infection with the viruses.

The US FDA gives some guidance as to which cell and tissue types should be considered 'rich in viable leukocytes'. ECDC's ad hoc expert panel considered the US classification insufficient to remove the risk of HTLV transmission. Similarly, claims that tissue and cell processing remove the risk were considered difficult to evaluate without

¹ FDA Final Rule, Eligibility Determination for Donors of Human Cells, Tissues, and Cellular and Tissue-Based Products, dated 25 May 2004 (effective 25 May 2005).

http://www.fda.gov/BiologicsBloodVaccines/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/Guidances/Tissue/ucm073964.htm

transparent validation of processing methods. Given the epidemiological situation in the USA, testing should be required until methods have been validated.

The ECDC ad hoc expert panel concluded that donor selection by risk factor exclusion is an inefficient strategy for reducing transmission risk, except when evaluating clinical contra-indications. The ad hoc expert panel suggests that donor examination cannot replace HTLV-I/II testing, particularly in the case of donors originating from endemic regions.

While only a single test for HTLV infection is currently FDA-approved on the US market, the review showed that the performance characteristics of the HTLV-I/II screening tests available on the EU market are good, especially when confirmatory testing is systematically applied. This is routine in the EU, but is not performed in the USA. No confirmatory tests for HTLV have been approved for diagnostic use on the US market by the US FDA.

The review shows that tests are available which, if they received FDA approval, would be technically suitable for testing tissue donations, as illustrated by the fact that they are used in Europe and other parts of the world.

Considerations

Based on examination of the evidence, ECDC suggests the following for the consideration of the EU Commission's Directorate-General for Health and Consumers (Directorate C Public Health and Risk Assessment) and the EU Member States Competent Authorities for Tissues and Cells.

- Consider discouraging use of the threshold value of 10⁸ leukocytes for safe lymphocyte content. Recommend studies to assess transmission risks related to lymphocyte content and discuss the validity of the threshold with the AATB and other relevant US actors.
- <u>Motivation</u>: if a threshold value for lymphocyte content is desirable as a risk assessment parameter for determining the transmission risk of HTLV-I/II infection, it should be based on relevant studies with strong statistical evidence. The current evidence for the threshold is insufficient to justify safe use of the threshold value for risk assessment of HTLV-I/II transmission in relation to cell and tissue donations. Such studies may not be easy to organise, but could possibly be performed by combined look-back and tissue type assessment studies. If lymphocyte content by tissue type and the type of donation are known, it could be possible to study the issue by retrospective studies.
- If testing is implemented among blood donors, consider recommending HTLV-I/II testing of tissue and cell donors.
- <u>Motivation:</u> prevalence of infection among tissue and cell donors is shown to be higher than among blood donors. Therefore testing of tissue and cell donors could be cost-effective if testing is implemented for blood donors.
- Consider discussing with US regulators the availability of HTLV-I/II tests and the need to apply a confirmatory test to improve positive predictive values.
- <u>Motivation</u>: availability of a suitable test on the US market is a prerequisite for the application of EU testing requirements. As the withdrawal of the only suitable test from the US market made it impossible to follow existing testing requirements, arguing for the approval of another test could be justified on the grounds of patient safety. It should be noted that there are several categories of test that the FDA allows and the 'approved' category may not be the only option. Furthermore, neither the current nor the discontinued test had been approved for cadaveric sample use.
- Consider requiring validation in accordance with transparent, predetermined standards for the processing of tissue and cell materials to remove HTLV-I/II transmission risks and applying these to all untested materials imported to the EU.
- <u>Motivation</u>: In contrast to EU requirements, ethnic minorities among whom HTLV-I/II infection may be endemic and migrants from high-prevalence areas are not directly addressed when assessing donor eligibility in USA (despite the fact that living in Europe for over five years results in deferral due to concerns over variant Creutzfeldt-Jacob disease transmission risk). There has been a decision to abolish HTLV-I/II testing in USA, despite the fact that the epidemiology of the infection does not differ significantly from that in the European Union. It may not be feasible to reintroduce testing simply for the purpose of imports to the EU. However, the claim that processing removes the transmission risk is poorly documented and evidence for the various methods used is not readily available. This evidence needs to be made available for validation. Alternatively, donors should continue to be tested.
- Consider recommending a comprehensive evidence-based review of lymphocyte content in tissues relevant for donation
- <u>Motivation</u>: comprehensive, evidence-based information on lymphocyte content in tissues relevant for donation would aid risk assessment and enable better planning of guidance for donor testing. Competent authorities for tissues and cells may have the necessary expertise for such an evaluation.

2 Request from the European Commission

On 2 August 2010, ECDC's Director received the following request from the European Commission's Directorate-General for Health & Consumers (DG SANCO) – Directorate C 'Public Health and Risk Assessment' (transcript):

Dear Dr Sprenger,

Subject: Request for ECDC advice on testing requirements for Human T-lymphotropic virus (HTLV) for tissue and cell donors

For a number of years the American Association of Tissue Banks (AATB) has required systematic testing for antibodies to human T-lymphotropic virus type I and type II (HTLV-I/II testing) for donations of tissues and cells occurring on US territory. Recently the AATB board agreed to change standards for tissue banking in order to remove the requirement to test donors of processed conventional human tissues (e.g. bone, tendons, ligaments, skin, heart valves etc). However, donors of viable leukocyte-rich tissue (e.g. semen, hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells) must continue to be tested and found to be negative for anti-HTLV-I and anti-HTLV-II to be considered suitable for release for transplantation. According to AATB this decision harmonises HTLV testing with US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) regulations which require HTLV test only for donors of viable, leukocyte-rich tissues and cells.

More information is available on the AATB website:

http://archive.constantcontact.corn/fs076/110205S357439/archive/l102820896575.html

Directive 2006/17/EC requires that HTLV-I antibody testing is performed for donors living in, or originating from, high incidence areas, with sexual partners originating from those areas or where donor's parents originate from those areas. Several Member States have HTLV testing required for human tissues and cells imported from the United States.

The recent change to the AATB standards was discussed at the joint meeting of the Competent Authorities and Regulatory Committee on tissues and cells which was held in Brussels on 20–21 May 2010 and several Member States expressed concerns about the change of AATB's testing requirements for HTLV and the potential impact on the safety of human tissues imported to the EU from the United States. In addition it became clear that different EU Member States apply different testing requirements regarding HTLV. Several Competent Authorities have therefore agreed to meet later this year in order to assess this situation and the potential consequences for tissue collection in Europe.

We herewith send you a letter prepared by the Human Tissue Authority (HTA, UK) summarising the problem and listing some questions for discussion, as well as background information collected by HTA.

We would like ECDC to contribute to this discussion later this year and therefore to assess the situation and questions in the letter by HTA. These cover the epidemiological history of HTLV, the possible risks for HTLV transmission through transplantation of human tissues and cell, and the possible measures to prevent such transmission, in particular regarding tissues and cells imported from the United States. Considering the planned timing we would appreciate if ECDC could complete its assessment by 15 October 2010.

Yours sincerely,

Signed Andrzej Rys

3 Background and methods

Legal authority

According to the founding regulation of ECDC, Regulation (EC) No 851/2004² Art 9(2), 'the Centre may be requested by the Commission, the Member States, third countries and international organisations (in particular WHO) to provide scientific or technical assistance in any field within its mission. Scientific and technical assistance provided by the Centre shall be based on evidence-based science and technology.'

ECDC shall:

- search for, collect, collate, evaluate and disseminate scientific data (Art 3(2)(a));
- provide scientific opinions and timely information (Art 3(2)(b),(c));
- exchange information, expertise and best practices (Art 3(2)(e)); and
- facilitate the development and implementation of joint actions (Art 3(2)(e)).

Evidence-based public health

Evidence-based decision-making in a public health setting has to carefully incorporate the best available scientific evidence from research and other reliable sources with considerations of values, perceived needs and recourses in the given context. Evidence-based medicine is often defined as the integration of expertise, values, and the best available evidence into the decision-making process [1].

A public health decision may be rather complex and needs to take several determinants of health into account, such as genetic factors, lifestyle, physical environment, socio-economic conditions, biological environment and health services at different levels [2].

Only some of these factors are relevant to the prevention and control of HTLV I/II in tissue and cell donations.

Evidence-based methodologies

ECDC has tried to compile this risk assessment in accordance with the following procedure applying evidencebased methodologies:

- Formulate questions.
- Search for evidence.
- Assess the evidence.
- Formulate an answer.
- Disseminate and implement
- Evaluate.

² Regulation (EC) No 851/2004 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 21 April 2004 establishing a European centre for disease prevention and control. OJ L 142, 30.4.2004, p. 1.

Questions from the European Commission

After a request for clarification, the following rephrased questions were posed by DG SANCO's Directorate C – Public Health and Risk Assessment:

Question 1

What is the epidemiology of HTLV-I/II viruses, including distribution by geographic region, risk group and other factors?

Question 2

Do the risks of virus transmission differ by type of tissue/cell or processing and if yes, how do they differ?

Question 3

What is the evidence for effectiveness of measures used to prevent virus transmission through transplantation of tissues/cells?

For this part of the ECDC risk assessment (Part 2), only Questions 2 and 3 above are addressed. Question 1 was addressed in the first part of the ECDC risk assessment (Part 1).

Search strategies

This part of the risk assessment involved exploratory keyword-based searches, complemented by information retrieved from searches conducted for Question 1. As relatively few publications could be retrieved for Questions 2 and 3, ECDC relied on expert advice from the ad hoc expert panel to develop this part of the risk assessment.

To ensure that the questions posed by the Commission were searchable in electronic databases, they were split into the following subcategories:

Population: donors of cells and tissues, living and cadaveric. (In addition, donors of blood/blood components and pregnant women were identified as additional populations for which screening programmes in many countries may produced relevant comparative data).

Interventions: testing for HTLV-I/II infection, exclusion by clinical and risk factor criteria, exclusion by lymphocyte content.

Comparison: US/North American versus EU donors, donors in the rest of the world.

Outcome: infection due to transfusion, tissues and cells donation or receipt of blood components, prevalence of HTLV-I/II infection, implications for safety of human tissue- and cell-derived products imported to the EU.

Reviews and original research articles were retrieved from PubMed, Embase and the Cochrane Library bibliographic databases on 27 January 2011 for Question 2.

The concepts used in the systematic search were taken from the controlled vocabulary available in the bibliographic databases (i.e. MeSH and Emtree terms). These were complemented with multiple field search combinations by using natural vocabulary (i.e. keywords). The retrieved records were in several languages, but with a majority in English. Some more relevant studies were selected from reading reference lists.

Results from primary searches were screened by reading titles and abstracts (when available). Studies were selected for full reading according to relevance for the different questions. Selection criteria were decided by a group of reviewers. One reviewer read the articles, but questions and uncertainties were discussed by a group of reviewers. Due to time constraints it was not possible to retrieve all potentially relevant articles from reference lists. Some relevant articles without English abstracts as well as reports in the grey literature might also have been missed.

Question 3 was mainly evaluated through consultation with the expert panel, with the exception of testing, for which references were identified through a keyword search. A PubMed search using the criteria *HTLV AND screening AND evaluation* was performed on 11 September 2010. Articles dated before 1995 were excluded because of technical developments in the field. This literature search generated 195 publications. Ten articles summarising testing procedures and evaluations of commercial tests for HTLV diagnostics were selected.

Studies will be categorised according to the following study designs: reviews, trials and observational studies. The observational studies were sub-classified into the following categories: cohort studies, case series, case–control studies, case studies, cross-sectional studies, time series and 'before and after' studies.

The following sections will be included in the evidence table to be produced for the final risk assessment:

- Bibliographic citation
- Type of study
- Number of patients or size of population
- Study outcome
- Strengths of study
- Limitations of study.

Assessment of the evidence

Validity: to assess the validity of a study is to evaluate whether the results of the study are trustworthy. In this study, one of the problems was that comprehensive incidence and prevalence data on HTLV-I/II is currently not available in Europe or the US/North America since infection by this virus is not subject to systematic surveillance schemes in either region. Few studies on HTLV-I/II transmission risks are available for the population under review (donors of cells and tissues), especially from Europe. Tests used for sero-epidemiological studies may provide inflated prevalence due to low test specificity, particularly if there is no confirmatory testing in the very low prevalence populations.

Generalisability (external validity): to assess external validity or generalisability is to evaluate whether the studies are transferrable to other settings or circumstances. In this assessment the challenges were connected to uneven comparability of different studies on HTLV-I/II and lack of epidemiological studies on the exact study population.

Grading of evidence according to strength of documentation: an evidence-based approach implies trying to draw explicit conclusions and building on the best available evidence, thus giving more weight to the studies which are of the highest quality and employ the most robust methods. The problems faced in this risk assessment were connected to a lack of studies and systematic reviews for the regions concerned. For some of the questions, the reviewers had to start by examining studies assessing populations (i.e. blood donors) different to the study population. Nevertheless, such studies can be useful, even if their design indicates that little weight can be given to the evidence.

Obtaining expert advice: ECDC ad hoc expert panel

While performing initial evidence assessment based on explorative and systematic literature searches for Questions 1-3 as described above, the ECDC internal review group recognised that expertise within the Agency was insufficient to properly address certain elements of Questions 2 and 3. Preliminary results were presented to the EU Commission Competent Authorities on Tissues and Cells at a meeting in Brussels on 6–7 December 2010. At this meeting, it was agreed that the Commission (Directorate C Public Health and Risk Assessment) would request nominations for national experts from the Competent Authorities on Tissues and Cells to support the ECDC risk-assessment work.

The Commission (DG SANCO Directorate C Public Health and Risk Assessment) made a request for potential experts and nominations by the Competent Authorities on Tissues and Cells were sent directly to ECDC. On the basis of its internal procedures^{3,4}, ECDC selected nine experts by reviewing their scientific and professional qualifications and ruling out any potential conflicts of interest. Following their appointment to the ad hoc expert panel by the ECDC Director, the selected experts were invited to review ECDC work and attend an expert meeting in Stockholm on 4 March 2011. Seven experts attended the ECDC meeting and their advice has been incorporated into this risk assessment. A separate meeting report will also be made available.

References: Background and methods

- 1. Straus SE, et al. Evidence-Based Medicine. How to Practice and Teach EBM. 3rd ed. Churchill Livingstone; 2005.
- 2. Gray M. Evidence-based Health Care and Public Health: How to Make Decisions About Health Services and Public Health. 3rd ed. Churchill Livingstone; 2009.

³ Internal procedure (work instruction) on handling requests for scientific advice at the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. ECDC/SAU/001 – rev. 1. Issue date (revised): 1 February 2011

⁴ ECDC policy on declarations of interest and handling of potential conflicts of interest. Draft endorsed by ECDC Management Board at its 20th meeting, Stockholm, 9–10 November 2010 (Agenda item 14)

4 HTLV-I/II infection and disease

Etiological agents

Human T-lymphotropic virus types I and II (HTLV-I and II; also denoted as HTLV-1 and 2) are two closely related retroviruses belonging to the Retrovirus family and the *Deltaretrovirus* genus. They belong to the Primate T-lymphotropic viruses (PTLVs) along with a number of simian counterparts. While HTLV-I and II are retroviruses, they differ from the *Lentivirus* genus to which the more common human immunodeficiency virus types 1 and 2 (HIV-1 and 2) belong. Recently, two new genetically distinct, but closely related viruses have been described from Africa (and named HTLV-III and IV), but their epidemiology and disease-causing properties are as yet unknown [1]. Therefore, and since they seem very rare, they are not included in this risk assessment.

HTLV-I and II are RNA viruses which can reverse transcribe their genome into DNA and integrate into their host Tlymphocytes. Infection with both viruses is chronic and lifelong and only a fraction of those infected eventually develop disease (see below). No vaccine against infection by either of the viruses.

Infection can be detected in the laboratory for diagnosis and epidemiological studies using a variety of methods, most commonly by demonstrating anti-HTLV I and II antibodies through serological assays. The serological screening assays do not distinguish between HTLV I and II infection and confirmatory testing is necessary to distinguish the variants and diagnose infection. Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) based tests have also been developed and can be used to quantify the viral load in blood samples. Virus isolation is possible but labour intensive.

Disease presentation

Infection with HTLV-I has been linked to two major diseases: HTLV-I associated myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis (HAM/TSP) and adult T-cell leukaemia/lymphoma (ATL/ATLL) [2, 3] as well as several other inflammatory conditions. Clinical presentation of HAM/TSP includes muscle weakness in the legs, hyperreflexia, clonus, extensor plantar responses, sensory disturbances, various urinary manifestations, impotence, and low-back pain [3]. High titres of HTLV-specific antibodies are found in the blood and cerebrospinal fluid of those with the disease. Other uncommon inflammatory disease associations include infective dermatitis, uveitis, myositis, and HTLV-associated arthropathy [3]. Adult T-cell leukaemia/lymphoma is associated with the malignant proliferation of transformed leukocytes carrying HTLV-I provirus.

Development of HTLV-I/II associated disease is generally slow and most of those infected remain asymptomatic for life. The average age of diagnosis is 40 which is commonly preceded by adult-acquired infection. The lifetime risk of HTLV-I carriers developing HAM/TSP varies according to geographic and ethnic determinants. Lifetime risk of HAM in Japan has been estimated at 0.25% [4], in Jamaica and Trinidad at 1.8% [5] and in the UK at 3%, based on incidence /prevalence data [6]. Prevalence of HAM (including incident cases) among US blood donors during follow up for up to 10 years was 3.7% [7]. The risk of disease development is increased among transfusion and transplant recipients, who may develop the disease with a much shorter incubation time, particularly in case of immune suppression [8-10]. The age-standardised incidence rate is 2/100 000 person-years, with a higher risk in females [8].

It is estimated that 2–7.3% of those infected with HTLV-I develop ATLL during their lifetime, although the proportion varies in different parts of the world and by gender [8, 11-14]. Infection in early life appears to be important for the development of ATLL [8,11]. The incidence rate is 2–4/100 000 person-years, with a higher risk in males than females, the direct opposite to the sex-ratio of HAM/TSP [8]. In Japan average age of onset is 60 years, while in Trinidad, Jamaica and Brazil it is 40 years [8]. The difference is unexplained but has been suggested to be dependent on host factors, among other possibilities [8].

Infection with HTLV-II has not been associated with malignancies; however, it has been associated with a neurological disease resembling HAM/TSP. The estimated lifetime risk of disease development for HTLV-II-infected persons is unknown but appears to be less than that estimated for persons with HTLV-I infection. While the majority of HTLV-II-infected persons remain asymptomatic (>95%) from the virus infection per se, recent studies report an increased incidence of other infectious diseases (e.g. bronchitis, kidney or bladder infections) in HTLV-1- and HTLV-II-infected persons [15].

HAM/TSP is a progressively disabling disease which frequently can have a severe impact on the quality of life of those affected. Secondary complications may lead to death after many years. No effective treatment exists against HTLV-I and II infection exists. Symptomatic or targeted treatment is still the main approach for HAM/TSP patients. Although zidovudine (AZT) and alpha interferon (IFN- α) in combination yield some response and improve ATL prognosis, better treatments need to be developed [16]. Antiretroviral treatment does not seem to have a sustained effect on proviral loads [16]. ATLL carries a poor prognosis in Europe, with a life expectancy of five months following diagnosis [17].

Transmission mechanisms and tissue/cell tropism

Both HTLV-I and II have been shown to be transmitted by blood contact, mother-to-child transmission (breastfeeding) and sexual contact, although the role of sexual transmission for HTLV-II is less clear. Unlike HIV-1/2, transmission of HTLV-I/II is more dependent on cell-to-cell contact. In the case of HIV it is possible to infect target cells using purified virions in vitro, whereas HTLV-I/II requires the co-culture of infected cells with target cells for efficient transmission. Moreover, cell-to-cell contact appears to be more important for transmission in vivo, as free virions cannot be demonstrated in plasma or serum and cell-free blood components have been shown not to transmit the infection. This is in stark contrast to HIV and Hepatitis viruses, where plasma products are infectious and high levels of virions are frequently found in the cell-free blood components of infected individuals.

For HTLV-I/II, models of transmission rely on the presence of infected cells, of which the most prominent seem to be CD4 and CD8 positive T-lymphocytes. These cells, which are part of the white blood cell (leukocyte) family, are carriers of the virus in infected individuals. In vitro models suggest that transmission between infected and uninfected cells requires physical contact and involves specific receptor molecules that interact with viral surface proteins. There is evidence that multiple cell types, such as dendritic cells, other monocyte/macrophage lineage cells and even epithelial cells found in breast milk may be important for transmission between individuals, even if infected CD4+ T-cells are most frequently detected in vivo [18-20]. The virus expands in vivo both by transformative proliferation of the infected cells and by re-infection of new cells through direct cell-to-cell contact.

The main cellular receptor of HTLV-I has been recently described and shown to be the ubiquitous glucose transporter protein GLUT-1, which is present on a wide variety of cells [21]. In addition, other cellular molecules, such as heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPGs), neuropilin-1 (NRP-1) and DC-specific intercellular adhesion molecule-3 (ICAM-3)-grabbing non-integrin (DC-SIGN) may contribute to the transmission mechanisms [18, 22-26]. To be able to transfer the infection from one cell to another, a specific structure dependent on cell-to-cell direct contact, sometimes called a viral synapse, needs to form [25]. This may explain the apparent inability of free virus to confer infection in vivo.

HTLV-I is readily detected in CD4+ T-lymphocytes in vivo. However, the virus has also been shown to be present in other cells of the leukocyte lineage, such as CD8+ cells, monocytes and B-lymphocytes [24]. In addition, in vitro infection has been successful for a wide variety of cells types from non-haematopoietic lineages and even nonhuman cells. There are models for persistent HTLV-I infection in the rat, rabbit, mouse and squirrel monkey. In these models, the virus infects and can be detected in a wide variety of haematopoietic and non-haematopoietic cells and tissue types, including brain, lung, kidney, heart, liver, thyroid, as well as thymic and endometrium epithelia [24]. In the monkey model, the most frequently infected cells were peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC), but infection of thyroid and salivary glands, lung, liver, pancreas, intestine, muscle and spinal cord were sporadically detected in some monkeys [24].

While these observations have not been verified by human studies, and their significance for HTLV-I pathogenesis is uncertain, it is likely that they are partly explained by the very common occurrence of the GLUT-1 receptor on multiple cell types. Some models of HTLV-I infection suggest that many cell types are (at least initially) infected in vivo, but that this infection is non-productive due to intra-cellular constraints on replication which can only be avoided in activated T-cells.

Manel et al. suggest that there may be a direct infection role of HTLV-I through the GLUT-1 receptor in a variety of the pathophysiological effects of the viral infection, including infection of the basal cells of the corneal epithelium and some endothelial cells [24].

Relevance for donations of cells and tissues

There is a risk that HTLV-I/II may be transmitted through the use of donated human tissues for transplantation or other human medicinal use as transmission through blood transfusion and bone transplantation [9, 27-30]. The recent discovery of the main HTLV-I/II receptors [21, 24], the potential role of dendritic cells for transmission [18, 23] and animal models in which HTLV infects a number of tissues and cells of non-leukocyte lineage [24] raise questions on the relevance of infection in other tissues/cells than those of the haematopoietic lineage which could be transmitted through donated substances of human origin. Moreover, cells of the haematopoietic lineage are known to be present in multiple tissue types in human, but their exact concentration is not known for all tissue types relevant for transplantation [21, 24].

5 EU legal requirements on HTLV testing of tissue donations

COMMISSION DIRECTIVE 2006/17/EC of 8 February 2006 implementing Directive 2004/23/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council as regards certain technical requirements for the donation, procurement and testing of human tissues and cells (EUTCD)⁵ sets down requirements for technical procedures which are designed to exclude donors of tissues and cells which would constitute a risk for transmission of infectious diseases. The Directive specifies both general and specific exclusion measures, including exclusion based on clinical signs of disease, medical history examination, review of behavioural and social risk factors and screening of evidence for previously undiagnosed infections by specific tests.

The legal requirements for testing tissue donations state that 'HTLV-I antibody testing must be performed for donors living in, or originating from, high-incidence areas or with sexual partners originating from those areas or where the donor's parents originate from those areas' (2006/17/EC, Annex II, point 1.2). Therefore, the Directive does not make HTLV I/II screening mandatory for all tissue donations, but only if the donor evaluation (Directive 2006/17/EC, Annex II, point 1.2) reveals that the donor falls into the category described above.

Some Member States have more stringent national requirements for application of the HTLV-I/II test. Moreover, preliminary review of the interpretation of the 'high incidence areas' for HTLV-I/II indicates that the areas/countries considered to belong to this category vary among Member States (information provided to ECDC by the UK Human Tissue Authority – HTA).

Detailed criteria of donor evaluation relevant for controlling risks of HTLV-I/II infection are described in the extract of Directive 2006/17/EC in Annex 3.

⁵ COMMISSION DIRECTIVE 2006/17/EC of 8 February 2006 implementing Directive 2004/23/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council as regards certain technical requirements for the donation, procurement and testing of human tissues and cells

6 Recent changes in tissue donor testing requirements in the US concerning HTLV-I/II infection

The American Association of Tissue Banks (AATB)

The following section is modified from the web page of the AATB (<u>http://www.aatb.org/About-AATB</u>):

The AATB is a voluntary, professional, scientific and educational organisation founded in 1976. The AATB's mission is public health. It is the only national tissue banking organisation in the United States, and its membership totals more than 100 accredited tissue banks and 1 000 individual members. These banks recover tissue from more than 30 000 donors and distribute in excess of two million allografts for more than one million tissue transplants performed annually in the US. The overwhelming majority of the human tissue distributed for these transplants comes from AATB-accredited tissue banks.

The AATB publishes standards and accredits tissue banks. It certifies personnel and operates a tissue network. The association also interacts with regulatory agencies and conducts educational meetings.

First published in 1984 and presently in its 12th edition, the AATB's *Standards for Tissue Banking* are recognised in both the United States and around the world as the definitive guide for tissue banking. These standards are the only private tissue-banking standards published in the United States, and they are the most comprehensive and detailed tissue-banking standards in the world. As such, the AATB's *Standards* have served as the model for federal and state regulations as well as several international directives and standards. While the AATB's *Standards*, have no direct legal regulatory force by themselves, the statutes and/or regulations of more than 20 [US] states reference AATB's *Standards*, institutional accreditation, or individual certification. At least six states require AATB accreditation for any tissue bank operating in their state.

In 1986, the AATB initiated a mandatory accreditation programme for its institutional members to ensure that tissue-banking activities are performed in a professional manner in compliance with its standards. Today, the AATB Accreditation Program remains the only private accreditation programme for tissue banks in the USA.

Removal of requirement for HTLV I/II testing for tissue donations

On 11 November 2009, the American Association of Tissue Banks (AATB) issued a news release stating that its Board of Governors had approved changes to AATB's *Standards for Tissue Banking* removing the requirement to test all tissue donors for antibodies to human T-lymphotropic virus type I and type II (anti-HTLV-I and anti-HTLV-II)⁶ (Annex 4). The changes were recommended by the AATB Physicians' Council and Standards Committee. On 20 October 2009, the Board of Governors voted to approve these changes⁷. This represented a reversal of a requirement for HTLV I/II testing introduced on 18 March 1993 by the AATB's Board of Governors.

⁶ http://archive.constantcontact.com/fs076/1102056357439/archive/1102820896575.html

⁷ HTLV TESTING Recommendation from the Physicians' Council & Regulatory Review Document. Compiled by Scott Brubaker/AATB August 18, 2009

According to the news release on its website, the AATB evaluated relevant, scientific literature as well as current state, federal, and international requirements for the screening and testing of donor tissue for HTLV-I and HTLV-II. The press release also states that due to administrative and operational considerations, there is no requirement to implement these changes by a specific date, but they can be made at any time at the discretion of the tissue bank. The press release refers to the paragraphs of the AATB's *Standards for Tissue Banking* for the exact content of the change in the standards. The lifting of the requirement is not total and testing must still be performed for some tissue and cell components that are 'viable, leukocyte-rich cells/tissues'.

Since the standards were amended, Florida and California have lifted their state requirement for HTLV testing of tissue donations (news releases posted on the AATB website).

Reasons for the change

There are several reasons for the AATB decision to change its standards and remove the requirement for HTLV-I/II testing. The rationale behind the changes has been described in an AATB document⁸ provided to ECDC by the AATB on 4 August 2010.

US FDA requirements

The US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) regulations for human cells, tissues, and cellular and tissue-based products (HCT/Ps) described HTLV infection and risk as relevant only for donors of 'viable, leukocyte-rich cells and tissues', and has only required testing for donations falling into this category. The AATB considers that the change in their standards reflects a fallback to the FDA requirements.

Test withdrawal

In the US, only tests approved for human diagnostic use by the FDA may be marketed and used for purposes other than research. At present, three test kits are licensed by the FDA, but only one remains in production⁹.

The table of FDA licensed assays for Human T-Lymphotropic Virus Types I & II lists three test kits with these trade names and testing formats:

- Abbott HTLV-I/HTLV-II EIA (EIA);
- Abbott PRISM HTLV-I/HTLV-II Assay (ChLIA); and
- Vironostika* HTLV-I/II Microelisa System (EIA). (*Licensed for donor screening, but may not be available).

At present, the Vironostika HTLV Ab kit is no longer commercially available. Similarly, in February 2009 Abbott gave notification that the last shipment date of the Abbott HTLV-I/HTLV-II EIA kit was 31 December 2009. The expiration date of this kit was 18 April 2010. In the past, this test was widely used for tissue and donor testing as a result of its reasonable performance characteristics and applicability for relatively small sample series.

Poor performance of the only available test on cadaveric materials

In the US, only one test kit manufactured by one company is currently available for HTLV screening of tissue donors. This test kit, the Abbott PRISM HTLV-I/HTLV-II Assay (ChLIA), is only licensed for testing blood samples from 'living' donors (see the FDA website link cited above.) The kit has not been approved for testing blood specimens from cadaveric donors and use of this sample type is not recommended. It is a high-throughput assay system which is only suitable for the running large numbers of samples.

Poor availability of alternative test

The performance of a CE-marked test kit when using cadaveric blood specimens is still being evaluated by a testing laboratory in the US. This test kit has not been evaluated by the FDA and it is not licensed in the US.

⁸ Rationale for Changing the Requirement to Test Tissue Donors for HTLV, AATB document, May 10, 2010

⁹ <u>http://www.fda.gov/BiologicsBloodVaccines/SafetyAvailability/TissueSafety/ucm095440.htm#approved</u>

Risk assessment – transmission of HTLV and the need to screen certain tissues

AATB considers, in line with the US FDA, that as HTLV I and II are retroviruses infecting CD4 and CD8 positive lymphocytes, and transmission has been linked exclusively to exposure to viable lymphocytes/leukocytes and not to non-cellular blood components such as plasma, transmission risks will only be relevant for those tissue products containing viable leukocytes. Studies of HTLV virus transmission following blood transfusion have found that a sufficient number of viable leukocytes must be present for transmission to occur, hence the term, 'rich in viable leukocytes', used by FDA, to describe a tissue type relevant for HTLV risk. The AATB refers to a threshold of 1x10⁸ viable leukocyte cells as the minimum number of cells that can result in transmission of the virus.

Therefore, the AATB concludes that HTLV testing is only relevant for those products that are 'rich in viable leukocytes'. Tissue types not considered 'rich in viable leucocytes' and for which HTLV-I/II testing is not required are processed as conventional human tissue (i.e. bone, tendons, ligaments, skin, fascia, nerves, cartilage, heart valves, cardiac conduits, and vessels/vascular tissue).

The AATB change of recommendations does not cover certain other tissue/cell types regarded as falling into the category 'rich in viable leucocytes', for which testing is still required by the AATB and the US FDA. These include hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells and semen.

HTLV-I/II infection in US donor populations

According to the AATB, the prevalence of HTLV infection is low in the United States, and the country is not considered an endemic area. In certain population groups infection is more common, but these individuals are not eligible for cell or tissue donation (e.g. injecting drug users and sex workers).

However, US guidelines for tissue and cell donor selection contain no reference to other US population groups for which there is evidence of a higher prevalence than in the general population (see Section 7 in Part 1 of this risk assessment for a review of epidemiology).

7 Implications of changes in US HTLV-I/II testing requirements on tissue and cell donors for the EU

In its list of questions the Commission asked ECDC to determine whether the changed testing requirements for HTLV-I/II in relation to tissue and cell donors in the US represent an obstacle to importation and use of tissue and cell products of US origin in terms of compliance with the requirements of the EUTCD. This is particularly relevant for the risk of HTLV-I/II transmission.

Directive 2006/17/EC, Annex II, point 1.2 stipulates that 'HTLV-I antibody testing must be performed for donors living in, or originating from high-incidence areas or with sexual partners originating from those areas or where the donor's parents originate from those areas'. The Commission asked ECDC to examine the epidemiology of HTLV I/II, to evaluate in which geographical areas of the world HTLV I/II infections are most common and to establish the status of North America in this regard, and how it compares with the EU/European region.

In US documentation on the change of requirements for HTLV-I/II testing, factors affecting the transmission of HTLV-I/II form part of the motivation for testing fewer categories of materials with human tissue cell origin. In particular, the restriction of HTLV-I/II transmission risk, and therefore the need for testing, to materials that are 'rich in viable leukocytes' and for a threshold value of 10⁸ leukocytes is applied in the US for the classification into this category.

In the initial question and in subsequent clarifications, ECDC was asked to examine the evidence for classification of materials into risk categories based on their leukocyte content and especially the threshold mentioned in the US rationale documents for the change of HTLV-I/II testing requirements. It was agreed that ECDC would not try to examine this through a comprehensive review of tissue types, as this would require extensive tissue-specific expertise which was not readily available to ECDC. Instead, ECDC will concentrate on evaluating the evidence as to whether transmission is possible only by exposure to sufficient numbers infected leukocytes and whether the threshold for transmission risk is 10⁸ leukocytes.

ECDC was also asked to examine whether measures used to prevent transmission of HTLV-I/II during transplantation of tissues/cells are effective even after the change in US requirements for testing.

8 Results of ECDC Review

Transmission mechanisms for HTLV-I/II

To a certain extent, the HTLV-I/II viruses have similar transmission mechanisms to other blood-borne and sexually transmitted infections. The predominant modes of transmission for HTLV-I are blood and blood components, infected mother's breast milk, sexual intercourse and the sharing of injection equipment among injecting drug users [8]. The same transmission modes exist for HTLV-II, except for sexual transmission which has not been convincingly demonstrated [31]. However, one major difference in transmission risk compared to many other blood-borne infections is the exclusive association between transmission and the presence of infected cells of lymphocyte origin in blood and tissues. Many other blood-borne infections can be transmitted by exposure to plasma or other a-cellular blood components.

Evidence for transmission linked to the presence of infected lymphocytes

Early studies of HTLV-I epidemiology after the identification of the causative agent [32] identified receipt of infected blood components as a major risk factor for HTLV-sero-conversion and adult T-cell leukaemia/lymphoma [28, 33, 34]. Large-scale look-back studies among blood donors both in Japan and USA confirmed the findings and also suggested that there is a dependence on cellular components in the blood for transmission to occur [30, 33, 35]. A comparative study of HTLV-I, HTLV-II and HIV-infection demonstrated with a high degree of confidence that both HTLV-I and II are exclusively transmitted by blood components containing cells, and that loss of ability to proliferate or become activated due to refrigerator storage over a period of >14 days also prevented transmission by blood components containing cells [27, 35]. A highly significant inverse time-trend for the effect of the length of storage on risk of transmission prior to transfusion was discovered [27, 35]. In contrast, no transmission occurred among recipients of a-cellular blood components from HTLV-I or II positive donors [27].

At the time of the studies establishing the strong link between cellular blood components and HTLV transmission, quantitative methods for estimating virus load in cells were not widely available. Virus load (i.e. the number of provirus copies per cell unit) has since been shown to vary tremendously among asymptomatic individuals [16, 36, 37]. However, it has not been possible to determine a minimum infectious dose for human infection [16].

Evidence for infectious dose threshold of 10⁸ leukocytes

A key element in establishing whether donors of cells or tissues need to be tested for HTLV-I/II infection according to the requirements of the AATB *Standards* is being able to determine whether the leukocytes in donated cells or tissues are viable and present in large quantity. Both in the AATB *Standards*, and in the FDA requirements¹⁰, only those donors whose cell and tissue donations are 'rich in viable leukocytes' need to be tested for HTLV-I/II infection.

In the AATB documentation¹¹, there is additional guidance on how to determine whether a donation should be considered 'rich in viable leucocytes'. This identifies a threshold value 'in the range of 10⁸ cells' which represents a transmission risk. Products containing fewer than this number of cells are deemed not to constitute a transmission risk and the donor will not need to be tested.

The threshold value of 10⁸ viable leukocytes originates from a look-back blood donation study carried out in Japan during the 1980s by Okochi et al. In the study 103 sero-conversions were found among 1 153 recipients of blood and blood components only partly screened for HTLV-I/II antibodies [33]. Risk factors associated with sero-conversion were examined among the recipients and sero-conversion was found to be strongly linked to the receipt of blood components containing cells. In fact, none of the 52 individuals who had received only frozen plasma from anti-HTLV-I/II positive donors sero-converted during the study observation time (from one to more than four years). Identified risk factors included short storage of packed red cell preparations and one method for preparation of platelet concentrates.

Within the same study, the authors found that seroconversion occurred among all six patients receiving HTLV-I positive platelet concentrates prepared by platelet apheresis while none of the four patients who had received HTLV-I positive platelet concentrates prepared from a single donation of whole blood sero-converted. The authors

¹⁰ FDA Final Rule, Eligibility Determination for Donors of Human Cells, Tissues, and Cellular and Tissue-Based Products, dated May 25, 2004 (effective May 25, 2005).

http://www.fda.gov/BiologicsBloodVaccines/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/Guidances/Tissue/ucm073964.htm

¹¹ Rationale for Changing the Requirement to Test Tissue Donors for HTLV, AATB document, May 10, 2010

concluded that employing Fisher's exact method there was a significant difference between the groups in terms of sero-conversion and they quoted a p-value of 0.004.

The authors compared the properties of platelet preparations and concluded that the number of lymphocytes in the apheresis platelet concentrates was $2-4 \times 10^9$ lymphocytes, whereas those taken from single blood collections contained 1×10^7 lymphocytes.

The authors suggested that the number of lymphocytes required for transmission of HTLV-I transmission is 10^8 since many of the recipients of infected cells containing 2 x 10^8 lymphocytes sero-converted, but none of the patients receiving infected concentrates containing only 10^7 lymphocytes did so.

No other studies supporting the threshold number of 10⁸ lymphocytes were identified by ECDC's literature search, although many studies support the strict linkage to transmission by cell and not via a-cellular blood components for HTLV-I and II infection.

Evidence of infectivity or non-infectivity of tissue types relevant for donations

Tissue and cell transplantation as well as organ transplantation has been shown to transmit HTLV-I infection. One of the earliest cases described occurred in a recipient of a deep-frozen bone allograft [9]. This case resulted in development of disease, despite long-term storage of the bone allograph in a frozen state. Several studies have described transmission and development of HTLV related disease in multiple recipients of tissues or organs from a single donor [10, 38-42]. In these cases, use of immunosuppressive drugs in the recipients appeared to speed up the clinical symptoms.

In the US, FDA guidance classifies cells and tissues into categories <u>requiring</u> donor screening and those <u>not</u> <u>requiring</u> donor screening for HTLV-I/II infection as per Box 1 below (quote from FDA guidance for industry¹²):

Box 1 – FDA guidance for industry

FDA classification of tissues into categories requiring donor screening for HTLV-I/II infection:

Examples of viable, leukocyte-rich cells or tissue include, but are not limited to:

- Hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells
- Semen.

You should consider cells and tissues to be viable and leukocyte-rich based on their status at the time of recovery, even if later processing might remove leukocytes.

FDA's classification of tissues into categories not requiring donor screening for HTLV-I/II infection:

Examples of cells or tissue that are not considered viable, leukocyte-rich cells or tissues include, but are not limited to:

- Corneas
- Sclera
- Skin
- Heart valves
- Dura mater
- Bone
- Tendons
- Ligaments
- Cartilage
- Oocytes.

Literature searches performed by ECDC did not identify any relevant literature that linked to the direct or indirect risk of HTLV-I/II transmission in relation to the above division, except the documented transmission by bone marrow (presumably containing haematopoietic cells) and bone (containing bone marrow) [9, 39, 43]. These data, although based on case studies only, do not support the classification as described above by the FDA.

¹² FDA. Guidance for Industry "Eligibility Determination for Donors of Human cells, Tissues, and Cellular and Tissue-Based Products (HCT/Ps) "; August 2007. Note: the FDA document is a guidance document aiming to help establishments to comply with Code of Federal Requirements (21 CFR, part 1271, subpart C);

As little evidence to assess the infectivity of various tissue and cell types could be identified through literature searches, ECDC asked the ad hoc expert panel to address the question of tissue types constituting a risk and those which may be used safely without HTLV-I/II testing. The experts were also asked to address the question of whether certain methods of processing harvested cells and tissues prior to transplantation can remove transmission risk.

After a thorough discussion, the ad hoc expert panel advised as follows:

With regard to the classification of tissues not requiring HTLV-I/II testing due to absence of leukocytes (as presented in the FDA list), the panel did not support the use of this list and provided the following justifications:

- the link between viable leukocyte content and risk of transmission has not been demonstrated for tissues and cells other than blood and their presence alone may be a poor marker of infectivity
- the infectious dose of HTLV-I/II in terms of cell-associated viral load is unknown and the threshold used by the AATB for leukocyte content is not supported by rigorous and valid studies
- many of the tissue categories (skin, oocytes, heart valves) listed as not requiring testing may naturally
 contain or be contaminated with cells that have been indicated as being involved in transmission of HTLVI/II in vitro settings and animal models
- certain tissue types giving rise to concern for potential transmission are missing from the list, i.e. bloodvessels, pancreatic islets, etc.
- many of the a-cellular materials (dura mater, tendons, ligaments, cartilage) classified as not requiring testing may in practice contain cellular tissue parts attached (bone, muscle tissue)
- fresh and frozen bone has been shown to be capable of transmitting infection but bone is listed in the category not requiring testing.

With regard to the effectiveness of various processing methods the ad hoc expert panel considered that there may be processing methods resulting in the removal of all risk of transmission, i.e. methods that completely remove cellular live materials from the tissue. However, not all processing methods can be easily evaluated without proper evidence validating the removal of risk. Methods developed for removal of bacterial contamination cannot usually be assumed to sufficiently remove HTLV-I/II transmission risks. Similarly, methods developed to remove viral particle associated risks may not be sufficient for HTLV-I/II risk removal as the risk is likely to be linked to cell-bound viruses. Moreover, many tissue and cell types cannot be processed in a manner which would sterilise them without destroying their donor usefulness.

A further complication is that many processing methods developed in the US which claim to remove the risk of transmission are proprietary or patented. Insufficient information is available on these methods to be able to objectively evaluate their potential for risk reduction.

The ad hoc expert panel therefore considered the current lack of HTLV-I/II testing for tissue and cell donors in the US to introduce a higher risk of HTLV-I/II transmission than exists in the EU. The experts suggested that the change in US testing policy constitutes a de facto trial of the consequences, which can only be evaluated after many years of follow-up.

Effectiveness of exclusion methods for transmission prevention

Risk factor review

The major documents in the EU and the US that establish requirements for examining contra-indications in relation to donor eligibility are, on the one hand, regulatory and on the other professional guidance. In the EU, the main regulatory document establishing minimum criteria to be implemented throughout the Member States is the EUTCD¹³ (relevant sections included in Annex 3). In addition, the Council of Europe has issued detailed professional guidance for stakeholders: 'Council of Europe Guide to safety and quality assurance for the transplantation of organs, tissues and cells 3rd edition, 2009'.

In the US, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has issued a guidance document for industry 'Eligibility Determination for Donors of Human cells, Tissues, and Cellular and Tissue-Based Products (HCT/Ps)' which is intended to help establishments comply with the 'Code of Federal Requirements (21 CFR, part 1271, subpart C)'. In the US, the American Association of Tissue Banks (AATB) has also issued professional guidance in their 'AATB Standards for Tissue Banking, 12th edition, 2008'.

Annex 6 presents a comparison of the various documents, together with an analysis of some additional supporting references. In many regards the evaluation of donor eligibility is based on similar principles, but there are some

¹³ COMMISSION DIRECTIVE 2006/17/EC of 8 February 2006 implementing Directive 2004/23/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council as regards certain technical requirements for the donation, procurement and testing of human tissues and cells

clear differences for which ECDC sought the advice of external experts. In particular, the question of indications for HTLV-I/II testing differs between the regions and the effect on the comparative level of safety for the end products needed to be addressed.

As with tissue types, no relevant studies on the effectiveness of donor risk factor evaluation were found by the ECDC literature searches, and the question was therefore referred to the ad hoc expert panel. The panel was unanimous in its assessment that risk factor evaluation, particularly in the case of cadaveric donors, is likely to ineffective in revealing past risks of HTLV-I/II exposure. The strong role of mother-to-child transmission on the epidemiology and maintenance of increased prevalence, the potential for transmission through regular sexual activity and the dominance of asymptomatic infection in the case of HTLV-I/II makes identification of risks by risk-factor review close to impossible with deceased donors and very difficult even in the case of live donors.

A major difference between the US and EU criteria for donor selection identified by ECDC and the ad hoc expert panel concerns the criteria for HTLV-I/II testing. In the US FDA guidance, testing based on origin from areas of HTLV-I/II endemicity defined by high prevalence or incidence is not included.

Considering the clinical evaluation criteria for contra-indications with the donation of tissues and cells, the US and EU criteria were considered fairly similar.

As a conclusion, the ad hoc expert panel suggested that risk factor evaluation was insufficiently effective to replace testing for HTLV-I/II in situations where individuals originate from endemic areas with a high prevalence of infection.

Microbiological screening

The scope of this section is to clarify the HTLV I/II laboratory testing procedures and summarise the results of published evaluation studies for the available commercial tests.

Blood donor screening for HTLV was introduced in Japan in the mid-1980s, followed by USA and Canada in 1988 and France in 1991 [44]. Numerous other countries subsequently introduced various screening programmes for HTLV in blood and tissue donors. ranging from full scale testing of all donors to the testing of new donors from selected risk groups. Despite the rapid evolution of clinical diagnostics over the last 30 years, there is still no golden standard for laboratory testing of HTLV-I/II infection [45]. Laboratory diagnostics are dominated by commercial serological methods for detection of HTLV-I/II antibodies in sera, such as ELISAs, western blots and agglutination assays.

Assays for the detection of HTLV nucleic acids by PCR have been published, but are not superior to serological methods in terms of specificity, sensitivity or economy. Therefore, the use of nucleic acid testing for laboratory screening of HTLV-I/II infection is still limited. Currently, there are no nucleic acid tests approved by FDA for diagnostic purposes.

The number of commercially available antibody screening assays is limited and the developments and releases of new assays have been relatively rare [46]. However, in recent decades there have been some important improvements in the serological tools for detection of HTLV-I/II antibodies. The first generation of serological assays, introduced in the middle of the 1980s, utilised whole HTLV-I lysate proteins as an antigen source. Since HTLV-I and HTLV-II share approximately 60% homology at the genetic level, some HTLV-II infections were not identified using these assays [45]. In the second generation of assays, HTLV-II antigens were also included, either in the form of crude lysate or as recombinant proteins [45]. The third generation assays use a technically improved detection methodology where recombinant proteins and synthetic peptides are used both to capture and detect anti-HTLV antibodies [47]. The conclusion of most of the evaluations of HTLV-I/II diagnostic tools is that these developments have increased specificity and sensitivity for detection of HTLV-I and HTLV-II, although some studies indicate the opposite [48-50].

Table 1 summarises information and evaluation results of the most commonly used assays for laboratory detection of HTLV I/II information.

Most assays evaluated have 100% sensitivity for detection of HTLV-I/II infection in clinical samples. However, no assay has shown 100% specificity in repeated investigations (Table 1). The Positive Predictive Value (PPV) of a diagnostic test can be defined as:

Number of true positives

(number of true positives + number of false positives)

or

 $PPV = \frac{(sensitivity)(prevalence)}{(sensitivity)(prevalence) + (1 - specificity)(1 - prevalence)}$

When using a test with less than 100% specificity to screen a low prevalence population, as is the case when screening for HTLV-I/II infection in blood and tissue donors in Europe and US, the PPV is low (i.e. the frequency of false positive results is high). If tissue donors are deferred based on false positive results, the mortality of patients on organ waiting lists may outweigh the benefits of testing. To overcome the problem with low PPVs in HTLV screening, several studies have focused on testing algorithms – i.e. how to best combine different screening assays and confirmatory tests in order to improve the accuracy of results. Confirmatory testing is traditionally performed in reference laboratories and methods used here are western blots (Diagnostic Biotechnology HTLV WB 2.3/2.4, Genelabs Diagnostics, Singapore), line immunoassay (INNO-LIA HTLV-I/HTLV-II, Innogenetics N.V. Belgium) and in-house PCR methods. Evaluation studies of confirmation assays have shown that the line immunoassay is the most efficient method to confirm and resolve indeterminate testing results [51].

Assay evaluation studies and reaching agreement on a unified testing algorithm for HTLVI/II testing is problematic for a number of reasons. The lack of a golden standard for testing and confirmation introduces a bias into the definitions of positive and negative serum panels used by research groups for assay evaluations. Results are difficult to compare since studies are based on different serologic assays and testing algorithms in combination with different interpretation criteria [44]. Moreover, specificities and sensitivities of screening and confirmation assays have been shown to change depending on the geographical origin of the serum panels or incidence of disease [45, 49]. In addition, the best testing algorithm does not only include the best possible performance of the tests under review, but also practical and economical parameters related to the purpose of testing.

Thorstensson et al. proposed a diagnostic algorithm including testing repeatedly reactive samples from ELISAs in the primary laboratory with third generation ELISA assays from Murex or Ortho, followed by INNO-LIA and finally western blot. [44]. To reduce the number of false positive results and the money and time spent in sending samples for confirmatory testing to reference laboratories, Berini et al recommended primary testing using a combination of Serodia HTLV-I particle agglutination and ELISA or a dual ELISA testing with Biokit and Murex [45].

In a study evaluating confirmatory assays for HTLV-I/II diagnostics, 292 out of 18.169 samples showed repeated reactivity in second generation ELISA used for primary testing. In the confirmatory testing over 75% of the positive samples were shown to be negative, underlining the importance of confirmatory testing to validate screening data [51]. In a Swedish study evaluating the accuracy of blood donor screening, eight out of 21.189 screening tests were reactive to HTLV-I/II. Confirmatory testing showed that all eight samples were false reactive, but given the relatively low overall false reactivity (0.04%) this was not considered a problem from a donor-deferral point of view [52]. Compared to earlier Swedish studies on HTLV-I/II testing this result indicated a highly improved accuracy of the primary HTLV-I/II screening. In a study from the US, 29% of the repeatedly reactive specimens from HTLV screening were further investigated using commercial western blots [53]. In other similar studies, line immunoassay has been used for confirmation and this has shown higher rates of false reactivity, indicating that this result may be a low estimate of the true number of false reactive samples.

Since 31 December 2009, the only FDA-licensed HTLV assay available for use in the US has been the Abbott PRISM HTLV-I/II. This assay is part of an automated testing system for high throughput screening. Most organ procurement organisations in the US do not have access to the instrument needed to execute the testing with this assay in a cost-efficient and quality-controlled manner [47].

Table 1. Commercial HTLV assays and their evaluation results

Manufacturer	Assay name	Principle	Reference	Sensitivity HTLV-I (%)	Sensitivity HTLV-II (%)	Specificity HTLV-I/II (%) ¹	Positive predictive value (PPV) in low prevalence situation (%)	Approved by FDA	Additional information
Abbott	HTLV-I 2.0 EIA	Indirect ELISA	Andersson et al.	100	85.5	98.4/99.3	0.33	Yes	No longer available
Abbott	HTLV-I/II	Indirect ELISA	Andersson et al.	100	96.8	90.2/99.8	1.14		
Abbott	Prism HTLV- I/HTLV-II	Sandwich ChLIA ²	Andersson et al.	100	100	NT/100	100	Yes	
Abbott	rHTLV-I/II	Sandwich ChLIA ¹ (3rd	Malm et al.	100	100	99.8			For high throughput screening
		generation assay)	Kapprell et al.	100	100	99.9			screening
			Qui et al.	100	100	99.9			
Abbott	Murex HTLV -I+2	ELISA (3rd	Berini et al.	98.8	94.6	99.7			
		generation assay)	Kapprell et al.	100	100	99.9			
Biokit	HIV 1&2 +HTLV-	Indirect ELISA	Andersson et al.	98.9		94.2/99.5	0.45		
	I/II		Berini et al.	100	96.4	97.0			
Genelabs	HTLV-I/II ELISA	Indirect ELISA	Andersson et al.	100	91.9	96.8/98.2	0.13		
Genelabs	HTLV-I/II ELISA 3.0	Indirect ELISA	Andersson et al.	100	96.8	90.8/99.8	1.14		
Fujirebio	Serodia HTLV-I	Particle agglutin-	Andersson et al.	100	100	97.6/100	100		
		ation	Berini et al.	98.8	98.2	95.8			
Murex Diagnostics	Cambridge Anti-HTLV -I/II EIA (VK 80/81)	Indirect ELISA	Andersson et al.	100	90.3	89.6/96.0	0.06		
Murex Diagnostics	HTLV-I/II (GE 80/81)		Andersson et al.	100	100	99.7/98.4	0.14		
Organon Vironostika	HTLV-I	Indirect ELISA	Andersson et al.	100	87.1	96.5/97.1	0.07		
Organon Vironostika	HTLV-I/II	Indirect ELISA	Andersson et al.	100	91.5	100/100	100		
BioMerieux- Vironostika	HTLV-I/II microelisa			100 ⁹		93.6% ⁹		Yes	No longer available
	system		Berini et al.	97.7	94.6	92.9			
Ortho	Cambridge HTLV-I/II ELISA	Indirect ELISA	Andersson et al.	100		91.9/93.6	0.04		
Ortho	HTLV- I/HTLV-II Ab Capture	Sandwich ELISA (3rd generation assay)	Andersson et al.	100	100	95.5/99.4	0.38		
Hoffman-La Roche	Cobas Core Anti HTLV-I/II EIA	Indirect ELISA	Andersson et al.	100	100	99.7/99.8	1.14		

9 Discussion and conclusions

Transmission in the context of tissue and cell donations (Question 2)

The evidence review assessed the validity, generalisability and strength of documentation concerning some of the factors influencing transmission of HTLV-I/II infection in the context of cell and tissue donations. The review supported the conclusion that HTLV-I/II transmission in the context of blood and blood component donation is dependent on the presence of lymphocyte cells in the transfused component. This conclusion was found to be confirmed by a number of well-designed studies. Furthermore, the idea that lymphocytes associated with transmission in blood and blood components lose the ability to transmit infection, if appropriately stored for a period of more than 14 days, was also found to be valid and well supported by several studies. In addition, the finding that a-cellular blood components, such as plasma and other cell-free fractions, do not represent a transmission risk was found to be valid and confirmed by multiple studies. All these findings could also be generalised to apply to products derived from blood donations and plasma donations (provided that plasma donations efficiently avoid the collection of cells of lymphocyte origin).

However, the evidence assessment could not conclude whether the findings for blood donations can be generalised to apply to tissue and cell preparations not of blood origin. Although this may be the case the evidence available is currently insufficient to be able to draw this conclusion. Transmission of HTLV via deep frozen bone after prolonged storage suggests that conservation alone may not be sufficient to remove the transmission risk for tissues.

Evidence to support a generic threshold of a total number of 10⁸ cells of viable leukocyte class was found to be insufficient. This threshold is based on a single observation among a group of 10 patients receiving concentrated blood components which were estimated to contain different concentrations of lymphocytes. Six patients estimated to have each received a concentrated platelet blood component containing 10⁹ lymphocytes from HTLV-I positive donors became infected. On the other hand, another set of four patients estimated to have each received a platelet blood component, prepared in a different manner from a single HTLV-I positive donor containing less cells (10⁷), did not become infected. Based on this evidence, the authors concluded that at least 10⁸ cells are needed for transmission to occur.

The evidence for the threshold value in relation to leukocyte cell content is clearly neither sufficient nor generalisable. A conclusion based on 10 events with two different outcomes contains too much uncertainty to be generally applicable. Even though the study claims that the difference was statistically significant, this cannot be considered reliable given the low number of events observed.

In addition, the two outcomes were based on products from different patients with unknown proviral load and prepared in different ways. It cannot be excluded that during preparation factors other than the final number of cells (which was not measured in the actual product lots used) affected the transmission. Finally, as the derived threshold was obtained entirely from a blood component study, there is no guarantee that it is generally applicable to other tissue and cell products. It cannot be concluded that other factors, dependent on the tissue and cell type, would not have an impact on the number of cells required for efficient transmission. It is possible that in certain tissues additional factors exist which may lower the threshold of cells required for infection.

The conclusion is that the evidence for the threshold of 10^8 cells is far too weak to be used as a general criterion for determining whether a particular cell or tissue type is devoid of HTLV-I/II transmission risk and safe for use. Further studies with greater scope and understanding of lymphocyte content are needed to address this question. It is possible that the use of the current threshold (10^8 cells of viable leukocyte class) to determine tissue safety in relation to HTLV-I/II transmission is placing individuals in receiving cell and tissue transplants at risk of infection.

With regard to the relevance of different tissue and cell types for HTLV-I/II transmission risk, the assessment is mainly based on professional advice from ECDC's ad hoc expert group. The panel considered the US classification of tissues into two categories ('require testing' and 'do not require testing') as insufficient for risk removal.

Furthermore, the panel considered that details of the processing methods for certain tissue and cell types could not be evaluated for their potential to remove infectivity due to non-transparency of proprietary processing methods. Instead, the panel concluded that validation of tissue and cell processing methods to remove transmission risk should be mandatory if testing for HTLV-I/II is not performed. Where tests are performed and positive cases excluded, this validation would not be necessary.

Effectiveness of measures to prevent transmission (Question 3)

The ECDC ad hoc expert panel concluded that donor selection by risk factor exclusion is an inefficient strategy for transmission risk reduction, except for evaluation of clinical contra-indications. The ad hoc expert panel suggests that donor review cannot compensate for lack of HTLV-I/II testing, especially in the case of donors originating from endemic regions.

The review of HTLV-I/II tests in the EU and in the US revealed that tests are available on the European market, but only one test approved for diagnostic use by the FDA is available in the US. This test is only suitable for use in high-throughput settings where sample numbers are high enough to achieve a cost-effective operation, which prevents its use in cell and donor services. The other test that was widely used by tissue and cell banking facilities in the US was discontinued by the manufacturer in 2009. As this was the only other FDA-approved test for HTLV-I/II testing, the AATB may not have had any other option than to change their testing requirements for the US tissue donor services.

The review showed that the performance characteristics of the HTLV-I/II screening tests available on the EU market are comparatively good, but due to the low prevalence of HTLV-I/II infection in both the US and the EU, their positive predictive value may still remain low. In principle, this can lead to some donated materials being discarded unnecessarily, especially if there is no confirmatory testing as the majority of positive results may be false positives. However, the ad hoc expert panel was unanimous in its assessment that false positive rates can be significantly reduced by applying confirmatory testing and cooperating with test providers that have sufficient experience and high throughput. The ad hoc expert panel suggested that this issue is frequently addressed through cooperation with blood donation services.

A low positive predictive value in low prevalence settings is an inevitable consequence of a highly sensitive screening test in a two-step diagnostic algorithm. Nevertheless, the review shows that tests are available which, if they were to receive FDA approval, would be technically suitable for testing tissue donations, as illustrated by the fact that they are being used in Europe and other parts of the world.

The decision to require screening for a specific infection to prevent its transmission has to be based on a comprehensive evaluation of the benefits for the individual and society. In the case of cell and tissue donations, infection transmission risks have to be balanced against the consequences of morbidity, illness, disability or even death due to the loss of tissues and cells that may be discarded due to the false positive reaction of a screening test. However, as cells and tissues from a single donor may be used for 20 or more recipients, the potential exposure from one untested and HTLV-infected individual is large.

The ECDC ad hoc expert panel suggests that if HTLV-I/II screening is implemented in a Member State or region for blood donations, it should also be implemented for tissue and cell donations. Since several studies indicate that HTLV prevalence is up to ten times higher in tissue donors than blood donors, such an approach would be justified.

10 Considerations

These considerations are based on a review of the findings of a literature search, as described in Section 2, (Search strategies), on the advice of ECDC's ad hoc expert panel given during its meeting (4 March 2011), and on a further review of the conclusions drafted by ECDC following the meeting.

Based on an examination of the evidence, ECDC suggests the following for the consideration of the European Commission's Directorate-General for Health and Consumers (DG SANCO) – Directorate C Public Health and Risk Assessment and the EU Competent Authorities for Tissues and Cells:

- Consider discouraging the use of the threshold value of 10⁸ leukocytes for safe lymphocyte content, recommending studies to assess transmission risks related to lymphocyte content and discussing the validity of the threshold with the AATB and other relevant US actors.
 <u>Motivation:</u> if a threshold value for lymphocyte content is desirable as a risk assessment parameter for determining HTLV-I/II infection transmission risks, it should be based on relevant studies with sufficient statistical evidence. The current evidence for the threshold is not sufficient to justify safe use of the threshold value for risk assessment of HTLV-I/II transmission in relation to cell and tissue donations. Such studies may not be easy to organise, but one possibility could be combined look-back and tissue type assessment studies. If lymphocyte content by tissue type and the type of donation are known, it could be possible to study the issue via retrospective studies.
- Consider recommending HTLV-I/II testing of tissue and cell donors if testing is implemented among blood donors.

<u>Motivation:</u> prevalence of infection among tissue and cell donors is shown to be higher than among blood donors. Therefore testing of tissue and cell donors could be cost-effective.

- Consider discussing with US regulators the availability of HTLV-I/II tests and the need to apply a confirmatory test to improve positive predictive values.
 <u>Motivation:</u> availability of a suitable test on the US market is a pre-requisite for the application of EU testing requirements. As the withdrawal of the only suitable test from the US market has resulted in an inability to follow existing testing requirements, it could be justifiable to argue for the approval of another test on patient safety grounds. It should be noted there are several categories of tests allowed by the FDA and the approved category may not be the only option. A second note is that neither the current nor the discontinued test had been approved for use on cadaveric samples.
- Consider a requirement for all untested materials imported into the EU to be validated in accordance with transparent, pre-determined standards for the processing of tissue and cell materials in order to remove HTLV-I/II transmission risks.

<u>Motivation:</u> in contrast to EU requirements, ethnic minorities in which HTLV-I/II infection may be endemic and migrants from high-prevalence areas are not directly addressed when assessing donor eligibility within the US (however, living in Europe for over five years results in deferral due to concerns regarding variant Creutzfeldt-Jacob disease transmission risk). There has been a decision to abolish HTLV-I/II testing in the US, despite the fact that the epidemiology of the infection does not appear to differ significantly from that in the EU. The reintroduction of testing may not be feasible for the purpose of imports to the EU only. However, the claim that processing removes the transmission risk is poorly documented and evidence of the various methods used is not readily available for assessment. Until such evidence is presented for validation, donors should continue to be tested.

• Consider recommending a comprehensive evidence-based review of lymphocyte content in tissues relevant for donation.

<u>Motivation:</u> comprehensive, evidence-based information on the lymphocyte content in tissues relevant for donation would facilitate risk assessment and enable better planning of guidance for donor testing. Competent authorities for tissues and cells may have the necessary expertise for such an evaluation.

References

- 1. Wolfe ND, Heneine W, Carr JK, Garcia AD, Shanmugam V, Tamoufe et al. Emergence of unique primate T-lymphotropic viruses among central African bushmeat hunters. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 2005 May 31;102(22): 7994-9.
- 2. Goncalves DU, Proietti FA, Ribas JGR, Araujo MG, Pinheiro SR, Guedes AC et al. Epidemiology, treatment, and prevention of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1-associated diseases. Clin Microbiol Rev, 2010. **23**(3):577-89.
- 3. Levin MC, Jacobson S. HTLV-I associated myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis (HAM/TSP): a chronic progressive neurologic disease associated with immunologically mediated damage to the central nervous system. J Neurovirol. 1997 Apr;3(2):126-40.
- 4. Kaplan JE, Osame M, Kubota H, Igata A, Nishitani H, Maeda Y, et al. The risk of development of HTLV-I-associated myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis among persons infected with HTLV-I. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 1990;3(11): 1096-101.
- Maloney EM, Cleghorn FR, Morgan OS, Rodgers-Johnson P, Cranston B, Jack N et al. Incidence of HTLV-I-associated myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis (HAM/TSP) in Jamaica and Trinidad. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol. 1998 Feb 1;17(2):167-70.
- 6. Tosswill JH, Taylor GP, Tedder RS, Mortimer PP. HTLV-I/II associated disease in England and Wales, 1993–7: retrospective review of serology requests. BMJ. 2000 Mar 4:320(7235):611-2.
- Orland JR, Engstrom J, Fridey J, Sacher RA, Smith JW, Nass C, et al. Prevalence and clinical features of HTLV neurologic disease in the HTLV Outcomes Study. Neurology. 2003 Dec 9: 61(11):1588-94.
- 8. Manns A, Hisada M, La Grenade L. Human T-lymphotropic virus type I infection. Lancet 1999 Oct 16:353(9168):1951-8.
- 9. Sanzén L, Carlsson L. Transmission of human T-cell lymphotrophic virus type 1 by a deep-frozen bone allograft. Acta Orthop Scand. 1997 Feb;68(1):72-4.
- 10. Toro C, Benito R, Aguilera A, Bassani S, Rodriguez C, Calderón E, et al. Infection with human T lymphotropic virus type I in organ transplant donors and recipients in Spain. J Med Virol. 2005 Jun. 76(2):268-70.
- 11. WHO and IARC. Human Immunodeficiency Viruses and Human T-Cell Lymphotropic Viruses, in IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risks Hum. 1996;67:1-424.
- 12. Koga Y, Iwanaga M, Soda M, Inokuchi N, Sasaki D, Hasegawa H et al. Trends in HTLV-1 prevalence and incidence of adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma in Nagasaki, Japan. J Med Virol. 2010; 82(4): 668-74.
- 13. Kondo T, Kono H, Miyamoto N, Yoshida R, Toki H, Matsumoto I, et al. Age- and sex-specific cumulative rate and risk of ATLL for HTLV-I carriers. Int J Cancer. 1989 Jun 15: 43(6): 1061-4.
- 14. Murphy EL, Hanchard B, Figueroa JP, Gibbs WN, Lofters WS, Campbell M, et al. Modelling the risk of adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma in persons infected with human T-lymphotropic virus type I. Int J Cancer. 1989 Feb 15;43(2):250-3.
- 15. Proietti FA, Carneior-Proietti AB, Catalan-Soares, Murphy EL et al. Global epidemiology of HTLV-I infection and associated diseases. Oncogene. 2005 Sep 5:24(39):6058-68.
- 16. Taylor GP, Matsuoka M. Natural history of adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma and approaches to therapy. Oncogene, 2005 Sep 5;24(39): 6047-57.
- 17. Taylor GP. The Epidemiology and Clinical Impact of HTLV Infections in Europe. AIDS Rev 1999; 1 (1):195-204.
- 18. Jones KS, Petrow-Sadowski C, Huang YK, Bertolette DC, Ruscetti FW et al. Cell-free HTLV-1 infects dendritic cells leading to transmission and transformation of CD4(+) T cells. Nat Med. 2008 Mar 23;14(4): 429-36.
- 19. Southern SO, Southern PJ. Persistent HTLV-I infection of breast luminal epithelial cells: a role in HTLV transmission? Virology. 1998 Feb 15;241(2):200-14.
- 20. Takeuchi H, Takahashi M, Norose Y, Takeshita T, Fukunaga Y, Takahashi H et al. Transformation of breast milk macrophages by HTLV-I: implications for HTLV-I transmission via breastfeeding. Biomed Res. 2010 Feb;31(1):53-61
- 21. Manel N, Kim FJ, Kinet S, Taylor N, Sitbon M, Battini JL et al. The ubiquitous glucose transporter GLUT-1 is a receptor for HTLV. Cell. 2003 Nov 14:115(4):449-59.
- 22. Pais-Correia AM, Sachse M, Guadagnini S, Robbiati V, Lasserre R, Gessain A et al. Biofilm-like extracellular viral assemblies mediate HTLV-1 cell-to-cell transmission at virological synapses. Nat Med. 2010 Jan: 16(1): 83-9.
- 23. Jain P, Manuel SL, Khan ZK, Ahuja J, Quann K, Wigdahl B, et al. DC-SIGN mediates cell-free infection and transmission of human T-cell lymphotropic virus type 1 by dendritic cells. J Virol. 2009 Nov;83(21): 10908-21.
- 24. Manel N, Battini JL, Taylor N, Sitbon M, et al. HTLV-1 tropism and envelope receptor. Oncogene. 2005;24(39):6016-25.
- 25. Igakura T, Stinchcombe JC, Goon PKC, Taylor GP, Weber JN, Griffiths GM et al. Spread of HTLV-I between lymphocytes by virus-induced polarization of the cytoskeleton. Science. 2003 Mar 14;299(5613): 1713-6.
- 26. Daenke S, Booth S. Molecular mechanisms affecting HTLV type 1-dependent fusion at the cell membrane: implications for inhibiting viral transmission. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses. 2000 Nov 1;16(16):1731-6.
- 27. Donegan E, Lee H, Operskalski EA, Shaw GM, Kleinman SH, Busch MP et al. Transfusion transmission of retroviruses: human T-lymphotropic virus types I and II compared with human immunodeficiency virus type 1. Transfusion. 1994 Jun;34(6):478-83.
- 28. Okochi K, Sato H. Transmission of ATLV (HTLV-I) through blood transfusion. Princess Takamatsu Symp. 1984;15:129-35.
- 29. Southern S, Southern P. Cellular mechanism for milk-borne transmission of HIV and HTLV. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2002;503:183-90.

- 30. Sullivan MT, Williams AE, Fang CT, Grandinetti T, Poiesz BJ, Ehrlich GD et al. Transmission of human T-lymphotropic virus types I and II by blood transfusion. A retrospective study of recipients of blood components (1983 through 1988). The American Red Cross HTLV-I/II Collaborative Study Group. Arch Intern Med 1991 Oct;151(10):2043-8.
- 31. Lowis GW, Sheremata WA, Minagar A. Epidemiologic Features of HTLV-II: Serologic and Molecular Evidence. Ann Epidemiol. 2002;12(1):46-66.
- Poiesz BJ, Ruscetti FW, Gazdar AD, Bunn PA, Minna JD, Gallo RC. Detection and isolation of type C retrovirus particles from fresh and cultured lymphocytes of a patient with cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 1980; 77(12):7415-9.
- 33. Okochi K, Sato H. Transmission of adult T-cell leukemia virus (HTLV-I) through blood transfusion and its prevention. AIDS Res. 1986. Dec; 2 Suppl 1:S157-61.
- 34. Sato H, Okochi K. Transmission of human T-cell leukemia virus (HTLV-I) by blood transfusion: demonstration of proviral DNA in recipients' blood lymphocytes. Int J Cancer. 1986 Mar 15; 37(3):395-400.
- 35. Kleinman S, Swanson P, Allain JP, Lee H. Transfusion transmission of human T-lymphotropic virus types I and II: serologic and polymerase chain reaction results in recipients identified through look-back investigations. Transfusion, 1993. 33(1):14-8.
- 36. Pennington J, Taylor GP, Sutherland J, Davis RE, Seghatchian J, Allain JP, Williamson LM. Persistence of HTLV-I in blood components after leukocyte depletion. Blood, 2002. Jul 15;100(2):677-81.
- Etoh K, Yamaguchi K, Tokumome S, Watanabe T, Okavama A, Stuver S et al. Rapid quantification of HTLV-I provirus load: detection of monoclonal proliferation of HTLV-I-infected cells among blood donors. Int J Cancer, 1999. 81(6): 859-64.
- González-Pérez MP, Muñoz-Juárez L, Cárdenas FC, Zarranz-Imrizaldu JJ, Carranceja JC Garciá-Saiz A. Human T-cell leukemia virus type I infection in various recipients of transplants from the same donor. Transplantation, 2003. 75(7):1006-11.
- 39. Miyoshi I, Murata N, Machida H, Taguchi H. Transmission of human T-lymphotrophic virus type 1 by bone marrow transplantation. Br J Haematol, 1995. 89(3): 690-1.
- 40. Nakatsuji Y, Sugai F, Watanabe S, Kaido M, Koguchi K, Abe K et al. HTLV-I-associated myelopathy manifested after renal transplantation. J Neurol Sci, 2000. 177(2):154-6.
- 41. Toro C, Rodés B, Poveda E, Soriano V. Rapid development of subacute myelopathy in three organ transplant recipients after transmission of human T-cell lymphotropic virus type I from a single donor. Transplantation, 2003. 75(1): 102-4.
- 42. Zarranz Imirizaldu JJ, Gomez-Esteban JC, Rouco Axpe I, Perez Concha T, Velasco Juanes F, Allue Susaeta I, et al. Posttransplantation HTLV-1 myelopathy in three recipients from a single donor. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 2003. 74(8):1080-4.
- 43. Tamaki H, Taniguchi Y, Kikuchi A, Yamagami T, Soma T, Matsuoka M, et al. Development of adult T-cell leukemia in donor-derived human T-cell leukemia virus type I-infected T cells after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Leukemia 2007. 21(7): 1594-6.
- 44. Thorstensson R, Albert J, Andersson S. Strategies for diagnosis of HTLV-I and -II. Transfusion, 2002. 42(6): 780-91.
- 45. Berini CA, Susana Pascuccio M, Bautista CT, Gendler SA, Eirin ME, Rodriguez C et al. Comparison of four commercial screening assays for the diagnosis of human T-cell lymphotropic virus types 1 and 2. J Virol Methods, 2008. 147(2):322-7.
- 46. Malm K, Kjerstadius T, Andersson S. Evaluation of a new screening assay for HTLV-1 and -2 antibodies for large-scale use. J Med Virol, 2010. 82(9):1606-11.
- 47. Qiu X, Hodges S, Lukaszewska T, Hino S, Arai H, Yamaguchi J et al. Evaluation of a new, fully automated immunoassay for detection of HTLV-I and HTLV-II antibodies. J Med Virol, 2008. 80(3):484-93.
- 48. Kapprell HP, Stieler M, Oer M, Goller A, Hausmann M, Schochetman G et al. Evaluation of a new third-generation ARCHITECT rHTLV-I/II assay for blood screening and diagnosis. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis, 2010. 67(1):61-9.
- 49. Andersson S, Thorstensson K, Godoy Ramirez A, Krook M, Von Sydow F et al. Comparative evaluation of 14 immunoassays for detection of antibodies to the human T-lymphotropic virus types I and II using panels of sera from Sweden and West Africa. Transfusion, 1999. 39(8):845-51.
- 50. Jacob F, Magri MC, Costa EA, Santos-Fortuna E, Caterino-de-Araujo A et al. Comparison of signal-to-cutoff values in first, second, and third generation enzyme immunoassays for the diagnosis of HTLV-1/2 infection in "at-risk" individuals from Sao Paulo, Brazil. J Virol Methods, 2009. 159(2):288-90.
- 51. Sabino EC, Zrein M, Tabora CP, Otani MM, Ribeiro-Dos-Santos G, Saéz-Alquézar A et al. Evaluation of the INNO-LIA HTLV I/II assay for confirmation of human T-cell leukemia virus-reactive sera in blood bank donations. J Clin Microbiol, 1999. 37(5): 1324-8.
- 52. Tynell E, Norda R, Ekermo N, Sanner M, Andersson S, Björkman A et al. False-reactive microbiologic screening test results in Swedish blood donors-how big is the problem? A survey among blood centers and deferred donors. Transfusion, 2007. 47(1):80-9.
- 53. Nowicki MJ, Matsuoka L, Brucal D, Chinchilla D, Mone T, Selby R et al. High seroprevalence of anti-HTLV-I/II antibodies among solid organ donors necessitates confirmatory testing. Transplantation, 2006. 82(9):1210-3.

Annex 1. Systematic literature search strategy

PUBMED: Transmission (indirect search)

Concept 1	Boolean operator	Concept 2
OR		OR
"HTLV-I Infections/transmission"[Mesh] "HTLV-II Infections/transmission"[Mesh] "Leukemia-Lymphoma, Adult T- Cell/transmission"[Mesh]	AND	"Leukocytes"[Mesh] "white blood cell"[Title/Abstract] "white blood cells"[Title/Abstract] "lymphoid cells"[Title/Abstract] "lymphoid cells"[Title/Abstract] "thymus dependent lymphocytes"[Title/Abstract] "thymus dependent lymphocytes"[Title/Abstract] "leukocytes"[Title/Abstract] "leukocytes"[Title/Abstract] "Dendritic Cells"[Mesh] "Macrophages"[Mesh] "dendritic cells"[Title/Abstract] "dendritic cells"[Title/Abstract] "dendritic cells"[Title/Abstract] "monocytes"[Title/Abstract] "monocytes"[Title/Abstract] "monocytes"[Title/Abstract] "macrophages"[Title/Abstract] "macrophages"[Title/Abstract] "macrophages"[Title/Abstract] "macrophages"[Title/Abstract] "cd4 positive lymphocytes"[Title/Abstract] "cd4 positive lymphocytes"[Title/Abstract] "t4 cells"[Title/Abstract]

Concept 1	Boolean operator	Concept 2	Boolean operator	Concept 3
OR	operator	OR	operator	OR
"httv i"[Title/Abstract] "httv i"[Title/Abstract] "httv 1"[Title/Abstract] "httv 2"[Title/Abstract] "human t lymphotropic virus 1"[Title/Abstract] "human t lymphotropic virus 2"[Title/Abstract] "human t lymphotropic virus type 1"[Title/Abstract] "human t lymphotropic virus type 2"[Title/Abstract] "aum t lymphotropic virus type 2"[Title/Abstract] "atlv"[Title/Abstract]	AND	"disease transmission, infectious"[MeSH Terms] "disease transmission"[Title/Abstract] "Infection Transmission"[Title/Abstract] "pathogen transmission"[Title/Abstract]	AND	"Leukocytes"[Mesh] "white blood cells"[Title/Abstract] "white blood cells"[Title/Abstract] "lymphoid cells"[Title/Abstract] "thymus dependent lymphocyte"[Title/Abstract] "thymus dependent lymphocytes"[Title/Abstract] "leukocytes"[Title/Abstract] "leukocytes"[Title/Abstract] "Dendritic cells"[Mesh] "Macrophages"[Mesh] "dendritic cells"[Title/Abstract] "dendritic cells"[Title/Abstract] "monocytes"[Title/Abstract] "monocytes"[Title/Abstract] "monocytes"[Title/Abstract] "macrophages"[Title/Abstract] "macrophages"[Title/Abstract] "macrophages"[Title/Abstract] "macrophages"[Title/Abstract] "macrophages"[Title/Abstract] "cd4 positive lymphocytes"[Title/Abstract] "cd4 positive lymphocytes"[Title/Abstract] "td cells"[Title/Abstract] "td cells"[Title/Abstract]

Limits: English, French, German, Spanish, Finnish, Swedish, Romanian

PUBMED: Transplantation (indirect search)

Concept 1	Boolean operator	Concept 2	Boolean operator	Concept 3
OR	operator	OR	operator	OR
"Organ Transplantation"[Mesh] "Tissue Transplantation"[Mesh] "organ graft"[Title/Abstract] "organ grafting"[Title/Abstract] "tissue graft"[Title/Abstract] "tissue grafting"[Title/Abstract]	AND	"HTLV-I Infections"[Mesh] "HTLV-II Infections"[Mesh] "Human T-lymphotropic virus 2"[Mesh] "Leukemia-Lymphoma, Adult T- Cell"[Mesh] "httv i"[Title/Abstract] "httv i"[Title/Abstract] "httv 1"[Title/Abstract] "httv 2"[Title/Abstract] "human t lymphotropic virus 1"[Title/Abstract] "human t lymphotropic virus 2"[Title/Abstract] "human t lymphotropic virus type 1"[Title/Abstract] "human t lymphotropic virus type 1"[Title/Abstract] "human t lymphotropic virus type 1"[Title/Abstract] "human t lymphotropic virus type 1"[Title/Abstract] "human t lymphotropic virus type 2"[Title/Abstract] "human t lymphotropic virus type 2"[Title/Abstract] "atlv"[Title/Abstract]	AND	"Meta-Analysis "[Publication Type] "Meta-Analysis as Topic"[Mesh] "Guideline "[Publication Type] "Guidelines as Topic"[Mesh] "Practice Guideline "[Publication Type] "Evidence-Based Practice"[Mesh] "Consensus Development Conference "[Publication Type] "Consensus Development Conferences as Topic"[Mesh] "Review Literature as Topic"[Mesh] "Review Literature as Topic"[Mesh] "Review [Publication Type] "Epidemiology"[Mesh] "Tross-Sectional Studies"[Mesh] "Risk"[Mesh] OR "Prevalence"[Mesh] "Incidence"[Mesh] "Prospective Studies"[Mesh] "Systematic review"[Title/Abstract] "cross sectional"[Title/Abstract] "screening"[Title] "screen"[Title] "screen"[Title] "screen"[Title] "screen"[Title] "cohort studies"[Title/Abstract] "cohort studies"[Title] "guidelines"[Title] "prospective study"[Title/Abstract] "case reports"[Title]Abstract] "prospective studies"[Title/Abstract] "prospective studies"[Title/Abstract] "prospective studies"[Title/Abstract] "case reports"[Title/Abstract] "case Reports"[Title/Abstract]

EMBASE: Transmission (indirect search)

Concept 1	Boolean operator	Concept 2	Boolean operator	Concept 3
OR	operator	OR	operator	OR
'human t cell leukemia virus 1'/exp 'human t cell leukemia virus 2'/exp 'human t cell leukemia virus infection'/exp 'htlv i':ab 'htlv i':ab 'htlv ii':ab 'htlv 1':ti 'htlv 2':ab 'htlv 2':ab 'htlv 2':ti 'human t lymphotropic virus 1':ti 'human t lymphotropic virus 1tlv i':ta 'human t lymphotropic virus thlv i':ti 'human t lymphotropic virus type 1':ab 'human t lymphotropic virus type 2':ab 'human t lymphotropic virus type 2':ab 'human t lymphotropic virus type 2':ab 'human t lymphotropic virus type 2':ab	AND	'disease transmission'/exp 'disease transmission':ab 'disease transmission':ab 'infection transmission':ab 'pathogen transmission':ab 'pathogen transmission':ti	AND	'leukocyte'/exp 'white blood cell':ab 'white blood cells':ab 'white blood cells':ab 'white blood cells':ti 'lymphoid cells':ti 'lymphoid cell':ti 'thymus dependent lymphocyte':ab 'thymus dependent lymphocytes':ab 'thymus dependent lymphocytes':ti leukocyte*:ab leukocyte*:ti 'dendritic cell'/exp 'macrophage'/exp 'dendritic cells':ti 'dendritic cells':ti 'dendritic cell':ti 'dendritic cell':ti 'dendritic cell':ti macrophage:ab macrophage:ab macrophage:ti monocyte:ti monocyte:ti monocytes:ti 'cd4 positive lymphocyte':ab 'cd4 positive lymphocytes':ab 'ded positive lymphocytes':ti 't4 cell':ab 't4 cells':ab 't4 cells':ab 't4 cells':ti

Limits: English, French, German, Spanish, Finnish, Swedish, Romanian

EMBASE: Transplantation (indirect search)

Concept 1	Boolean operator	Concept 2	Boolean operator	Concept 3
OR		OR		OR
'human t cell leukemia virus 1'/exp 'human t cell leukemia virus 2'/exp 'human t cell leukemia virus infection'/exp 'htlv i':ab 'htlv i':ab 'htlv ii':ab 'htlv 1':ab 'htlv 1':ab 'htlv 2':ab 'htlv 2':ab 'htlv 2':ab 'human t lymphotropic virus 1':ab 'human t lymphotropic virus 1':ti 'human t lymphotropic virus 1':ti 'human t lymphotropic virus 2':ab 'human t lymphotropic virus type 1':ab 'human t lymphotropic virus type 1':ab 'human t lymphotropic virus type 2':ab 'human t lymphotropic virus type 2':ab atlv:ab	AND	'organ transplantation'/exp 'tissue transplantation'.ab 'tissue transplantation':ab 'tissue transplantation':ab 'organ transplantation':ti 'tissue graft':ab 'tissue graft':ti 'organ graft':ab 'organ graft':ti	AND	'cohort analysis'/exp 'cross-sectional study'/exp 'prevalence'/exp 'incidence'/exp 'screening'/exp 'risk'/exp 'evidence based practice'/exp 'systematic review'/exp 'meta analysis'/exp 'practice guideline'/exp 'systematic review':ab 'systematic review':ab 'systematic review':ab 'systematic review':ab 'systematic review':ti 'cross sectional':ab 'cross sectional':ti 'meta analysis':ab 'meta analysis':ab 'meta analysis':ti 'screeni':ti 'risk':ti guideline:ti guideline:ti guideline:ti epidemiology:ti 'cohort study':ab 'cohort study':ti 'cohort studies':ab 'cohort studies':ti 'case report'

Limits: English, French, German, Spanish, Finnish, Swedish, Romanian

Annex 2. Evidence table

Citation	Title	Type of study	Area covered	Population/ sample size	Outcome	Strengths	Limitations
WHO and IARC (1996). International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) Monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans. 67: 447.	Human Immunodeficiency Viruses and Human T-Cell Lymphotropic Viruses	Epidemiological review and expert assessment of clinical significance of HTLV-I and HTLV-I and HTLV-II for cancer	Global	n/a	Estimate of global prevalence. Review of links to ATLL, HAM/TSP and other possible conditions. Estimates of lifetime risk of ATLL (2 %).	Comprehensive review of epidemiology and most aspects of HTLV-I/II infection. Summary of most available data at time of production. Convincing conclusions on a causative link of HTLV-I to ATLL.	Lack of population representative data. Does not present comprehensive conclusions concerning links to diseases other than HAM/TSP and ATLL. Does not present lifetime risks of HAM/TSP development among those infected with HTLV- I.
Okochi K and Sato H, 1986. AIDS Res. 2 Suppl 1; S157- 61	Transmission of adult T-cell leukemia virus (HTLV-I) through blood transfusion and its prevention.	Retrospective look-back cohort study.	Japan	1 153 recipients of infected blood; 103 seroconversions 52 received plasma; no seroconversion, 4+6 cases in arm used to establish infection threshold.	Claims to establish infectious dose for cells.	Look-back population size.	Sample size too small to establish infection threshold.
Sullivan MT et al. 1991. Arch Intern Med. 151; 10: 2043-8	Transmission of human T- lymphotropic virus types I and II by blood transfusion. A retrospective study of recipients of blood components (1983 through 1988). The American Red Cross HTLV-I/II Collaborative Study Group	Retrospective look-back cohort study	US	28 centres 17/133 recipients seroconverted.	Infection, effect of storage time on infectivity.	Multicenter study	Relatively few events.
Kleinman S et al. 1993. Transfusion. 33; 1: 14-8	Transfusion transmission of human T- lymphotropic virus types I and II: serologic and polymerase chain reaction results in recipients identified through look-back investigations.	Retrospective look-back cohort study	US	54 individuals transfused with HTLV-positive cellular blood components between 1983 and 1989.	16 (30%) of 54 evaluable recipients of transfused cellular components became infected.	Relatively long timeline. PCR used for confirmation.	Relatively few events.
Sanzen L and Carlsson A 1997. Acta Orthop Scand. 68; 1: 72-4	Transmission of human T-cell lymphotrophic virus type 1 by a deep-frozen bone allograft	Case study	Sweden	1	Development of disease despite bone being deep- frozen for an extended period.	Only study on bone-transmission	One case only.
Gonzalez-Perez MP et al. 2003. Transplantation 75; 7: 1006-11	Human T-cell leukemia virus type I infection in various recipients of transplants from the same donor	Case study	Spain	One donor, five recipients.	3/5 developed infection and disease (solid organ: kidney, liver), two did not (cornea).	Same donor	Same case as Zarranz Imirizladu et al?
Zarranz Imirizaldu JJ et al. 2003. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 74; 8: 1080-4	Post- transplantation HTLV-1 myelopathy in three recipients from a single donor	Case study	Spain	One donor (solid organs), five recipients (1 x liver, 2 x kidney)	3/5 developed infection and disease (solid organ: kidney, liver), two did not (cornea)	Same donor	Same case as Gonzales-Perez et al?

Citation	Title	Type of study	Area covered	Population/ sample size	Outcome	Strengths	Limitations
Huang RC. and Fishman JA 2011. Transplantation 91; 2: 146-9	Screening of deceased organ donors: no easy answers	Discussion paper	US	n/a	Discuss US decision to stop screening for HTLV among organ donors.	Experts in the transplantation field involved.	Conflict of interest?
Kaul DR et al. 2010. Am J Transplant. 10; 2: 207-13	Donor screening for human T-cell lymphotrophic virus 1/2: changing paradigms for changing testing capacity	Discussion paper	US	n/a	Call for development of tests suitable for organ donors.	Experts in the transplantation field involved.	Conflict of interest?
Nowicki MJ et al. 2006. Transplantation 82; 9: 1210-3	High seroprevalence of anti-HTLV-I/II antibodies among solid organ donors necessitates confirmatory testing	Discussion paper	US	n/a	Bring up need for confirmation testing to avoid loss of organs due to false positive results.	Experts in the transplantation field involved.	Conflict of interest?
Magnus P et al. 1996. Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen. 116; 10: 1229- 32	[Quality adjusted life years in assessment of preventive measures. Should blood donors be tested for HTLV- I/II infections?]	Cost- effectiveness modelling study	Norway	n/a	Cost per QALY NOK 2.33 million when prevalence is 1 per 50 000 blood donors, reduced to 190 000 per QALY when the prevalence is 10 per 50 000	Use QALY	May not apply in other countries.
Stigum H et al. 2000. Int J Epidemiol. 29; 6: 1076-84	Human T-cell lymphotropic virus testing of blood donors in Norway: a cost-effect model	Cost- effectiveness modelling study	Norway	n/a	Prevalence 10 per 100 000 intervention will cost USD 0.9 million per life saved, or USD 41 000 per quality adjusted life year gained; willingness to pay to save a statistical life approximately USD 1.2 million in Norway; Fulfilled if prevalence is over 0.8/10 000 donors.	Use QALY	May not apply in other countries.

Annex 3. Current testing requirements in Europe for tissue donation

Extract from relevant sections of EU COMMISSION DIRECTIVE 2006/17/EC dated 8 February 2006 implementing Directive 2004/23/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council as regards certain technical requirements for the donation, procurement and testing of human tissues and cells.

[Preamble]

•••••

(2) In order to prevent the transmission of diseases by human tissues and cells for human applications and to ensure an equivalent level of quality and safety, Directive 2004/23/EC calls for the establishment of specific technical requirements for each one of the steps in the human tissue and cell application process.

(3) The use of tissues and cells for application in the human body carries a risk of disease transmission and other potential adverse effects in recipients. That risk can be reduced by careful donor selection, testing of each donation and the application of procedures to procure tissues and cells in accordance with rules and processes established and updated according to the best available scientific advice. Therefore, all tissues and cells, including those used as starting material for the manufacture of medicinal products to be used in the Community, should meet the quality and safety requirements laid down in this Directive.

.....

ANNEX I: SELECTION CRITERIA FOR DONORS OF TISSUES AND/OR CELLS (EXCEPT DONORS OF REPRODUCTIVE CELLS) AS REFERRED TO IN ARTICLE 3(a)

Selection criteria for donors are based on an analysis of the risks related to the application of the specific cells/tissues. Indicators of these risks must be identified by physical examination, review of the medical and behavioural history, biological testing, post-mortem examination (for deceased donors) and any other appropriate investigation. Unless justified on the basis of a documented risk assessment approved by the responsible person as defined in Article 17 of Directive 2004/23/EC, donors must be excluded from donation if any of the following criteria applies:

1. Deceased Donors

1.1. General criteria for exclusion

.....

1.1.3. Presence, or previous history, of malignant disease, except for primary basal cell carcinoma, carcinoma in situ of the uterine cervix, and some primary tumours of the central nervous system that have to be evaluated according to scientific evidence. Donors with malignant diseases can be evaluated and considered for cornea donation, except for those with retinoblastoma, *haematological neoplasm*, and malignant tumours of the anterior segment of the eye.

•••••

1.1.5. Systemic infection which is not controlled at the time of donation, including bacterial diseases, *systemic viral*, fungal or parasitic infections, or significant local infection in the tissues and cells to be donated. Donors with bacterial septicaemia may be evaluated and considered for eye donation but only where the corneas are to be stored by organ culture to allow detection of any bacterial contamination of the tissue.

1.1.6. History, clinical evidence, or laboratory evidence of HIV, acute or chronic hepatitis B (except in the case of persons with a proven immune status), hepatitis C and HTLV I/II, transmission risk or evidence of risk factors for these infections.

•••••

1.1.9. Evidence of any other risk factors for transmissible diseases on the basis of a risk assessment, taking into consideration donor travel, exposure history and local infectious disease prevalence.

1.1.10. Presence on the donor's body of physical signs implying a risk of transmissible disease(s) as described in Annex IV, point 1.2.3.

.....

1.2. Additional exclusion criteria for deceased child donors

1.2.1. Any children born to mothers with HIV infection or that meet any of the exclusion criteria described in section 1.1 must be excluded as donors until the risk of transmission of infection can be definitely ruled out.

(a) Children aged less than 18 months born from mothers with HIV, hepatitis B, hepatitis C or HTLV infection, or at risk of such infection, and who have been breastfed by their mothers during the previous 12 months, cannot be considered as donors regardless of the results of the analytical tests.

(b) Children of mothers with HIV, hepatitis B, hepatitis C or HTLV infection, or at risk of such infection, and who have not been breastfed by their mothers during the previous 12 months and for whom analytical tests, physical examinations, and reviews of medical records do not provide evidence of HIV, hepatitis B, hepatitis C or HTLV infection, can be accepted as donors.

.....

2. Living donors

2.2. Allogeneic living donors

2.2.1. Allogeneic living donors must be selected on the basis of their health and medical history, provided on a questionnaire and through an interview performed by a qualified and trained healthcare professional with the donor, in compliance with point 2.2.2. This assessment must include relevant factors that may assist in identifying and screening out persons whose donation could present a health risk to others, such as the possibility of transmitting diseases or health risks to themselves. For any donation, the collection process must not interfere with or compromise the health or care of the donor. In the case of cord blood or amniotic membrane donation, this applies to both mother and baby.

2.2.2. Selection criteria for allogeneic living donors must be established and documented by the tissue establishment (and the transplanting clinician in the case of direct distribution to the recipient), based on the specific tissue or cells to be donated, together with the donor's physical status and medical and behavioural history and the results of clinical investigations and laboratory tests establishing the donor's state of health.

2.2.3. The same exclusion criteria must be applied as for deceased donors with the exception of point 1.1.1. [ECDC comment: NOTE, para-truncated]

ANNEX II: LABORATORY TESTS REQUIRED FOR DONORS (EXCEPT DONORS OF REPRODUCTIVE CELLS) AS REFERRED TO IN ARTICLE 4(1)

1. Biological tests required for donors

.....

1.2. HTLV-I antibody testing must be performed for donors living in, or originating from, high-incidence areas or with sexual partners originating from those areas or where the donor's parents originate from those areas.

.....

2. General requirements to be met for determining biological markers

2.1. The tests must be carried out by a qualified laboratory, authorised as a testing centre by the competent authority in the Member State, using EC-marked testing kits where appropriate. The type of test used must be validated for the purpose in accordance with current scientific knowledge.

2.2. The biological tests will be carried out on the donor's serum or plasma; they must not be performed on other fluids or secretions such as the aqueous or vitreous humour unless specifically justified clinically using a validated test for such a fluid.

.....

2.4. In the case of a deceased donor, blood samples must have been obtained just prior to death or, if not possible, the time of sampling must be as soon as possible after death and in any case within 24 hours after death.

2.5. (a) In the case of living donors (except allogeneic bone marrow stem-cell and peripheral blood stem-cell donors, for practical reasons), blood samples must be obtained at the time of donation or, if not possible, within seven days post donation (this is the 'donation sample').

(b) Where tissues and cells of allogeneic living donors can be stored for long periods, repeat sampling and testing is required after an interval of 180 days. In these circumstances of repeat testing, the donation sample can be taken up to 30 days prior to and 7 days post donation.

(c) Where tissues and cells of allogeneic living donors cannot be stored for long periods and repeat sampling is therefore not possible, point 2(5)(a) above applies.

2.6. If in a living donor (except bone marrow stem-cell and peripheral blood stem-cell donors) the 'donation sample', as defined in point 2(5)(a) above, is additionally tested by the nucleic acid amplification technique (NAT) for HIV, HBV and HCV, testing of a repeat blood sample is not required. Retesting is also not required if the processing includes an inactivation step that has been validated for the viruses concerned.

2.7. In the case of bone marrow and peripheral blood stem-cell collection, blood samples must be taken for testing within 30 days prior to donation.

2.8. In the case of neonatal donors, the biological tests may be carried out on the donor's mother to avoid medically unnecessary procedures upon the infant.

ANNEX IV: CELL AND/OR TISSUE DONATION AND PROCUREMENT PROCEDURES AND RECEPTION AT THE TISSUE ESTABLISHMENT, AS REFERRED TO IN ARTICLE 5

1. Donation and procurement procedures

1.2. Donor evaluation (this section does not apply to partner donation of reproductive cells or to autologous donors).

1.2.1. An authorised person must collect and record the donor's relevant medical and behavioural information according to the requirements described in section 1.4.

1.2.2. In order to acquire the appropriate information, different relevant sources must be used, including at least an interview with the donor, for living donors, and the following when appropriate:

(a) the medical records of the donor;

(b) an interview with a person who knew the donor well, for deceased donors;

(c) an interview with the treating physician;

- (d) an interview with the general practitioner;
- (e) the autopsy report.

1.2.3. In addition, in the case of a deceased donor, and in the case of a living donor when justified, a physical examination of the body must be performed to detect any signs that may be sufficient in themselves to exclude the donor or which must be assessed in the light of the donor's medical and personal history.

1.2.4. The complete donor records must be reviewed and assessed for suitability and signed by a qualified health professional.

.....

1.4. Donor documentation

1.4.1. For each donor, there must be a record containing:

(a) the donor identification (first name, family name and date of birth — if a mother and child are involved in the donation, both the name and date of birth of the mother and the name, if known, and date of birth of the child);

(b) age, sex, medical and behavioural history (the information collected must be sufficient to allow application of the exclusion criteria, where required);

- (c) outcome of body examination, where applicable;
- (d) haemodilution formula, where applicable;
- (e) the consent/authorisation form, where applicable;

(f) clinical data, laboratory test results, and the results of other tests carried out;

(g) if an autopsy was performed, the results must be included in the record (for tissues and cells that cannot be stored for extended periods, a preliminary verbal report of the autopsy must be recorded);

(h) for haematopoietic progenitor cell donors, the donor's suitability for the chosen recipient must be documented. For unrelated donations, when the organisation responsible for procurement has limited access to recipient data, the transplanting organisation must be provided with donor data relevant for confirming suitability.

Annex 4. ECDC comparison of US/EU/Council of Europe guidance and regulations on donor eligibility determination by risk factor review

Q2: Do the HTLV transmission risks differ by type of tissue/cells or processing of them and if yes, how do they differ?

- Classification of grafts tissues/cells
 - FDA: viable, leukocyte-rich/non-viable, leukocyte-rich
 - Council of Europe: musculoskeletal tissues, cardiovascular tissues, skin tissues, ocular tissues;
 - Retrieved from living/deceased donors
 - Can be sterilised/cannot be sterilised
- Risk of transmission by tissue type
 - Significant risk of HIV, HVB, HVC transmission by musculoskeletal tissues because of their high blood content and high donor-recipient ratio (Pruss A.). Nucleic-acid amplification testing or quarantine is recommended for HIV, HVB and HVC.
- Processing or inactivation methods and viral reduction processes:
 - Exposure to antibiotics, disinfection, thermo-disinfection, sterilisation by ethanol oxide and gamma irradiation;
- Reduction of risk after processing
 - Validation of pathogen inactivation: infectivity reduced to less than 104 viruses.

	US	Europe			
FDA. Guidance for Industry 'Eligibility Determination for Donors of Human cells, Tissue-Based Products (HCT/Ps)'; August 2007 <i>Note: the FDA document</i> <i>is a guidance document</i> <i>aiming to help</i> <i>establishments to comply</i> <i>with the Code of Federal</i> <i>Requirements (21 CFR,</i> <i>part 1271, subpart C);</i>	 References to HTLV testing of donors identify two types of HCT/Ps: Viable, leukocyte-rich cells or tissues, including but not limited to: Hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells Semen. Mandatory tests: HTLV I/II, CMV. Non-viable, leukocyte rich cells or tissues, includes but are not limited to: Cornea Sclera Skin Heart valves Dura mater Bone Tendons Ligaments Cartilage Oocytes. 	Council of Europe Guide to safety and quality assurance for the transplantation of organs, tissues and cells. 3 rd edition, 2009	Chapter 3: Selection of donors by tissue-specific criteria. Classification: - musculoskeletal tissues - cardiovascular tissues - skin tissue - ocular tissue <i>No mention of HTLV!</i> Tissue-specific selection criteria: - Age restrictions for some tissues - Trauma or chronic pathology of the tissue - Tumour or neoplasia of the tissue - Microbiological infection of the tissue - Specific warm ischemia time - Appropriate tissue function - Poisoning. Musculoskeletal tissue-specific selection criteria.		
Eastlund T. 1995. Cell Transplantation Infectious disease transmission through cell, tissue, and organ transplantation: reducing the risk through donor screening'. Original contribution	 Table 3: Allograft characteristics affecting ability to transmit disease Nonviable allografts, acellular, connective tissue, can be processed, sterilised: bone dura mater pericardium tendon costal cartilage fascia ear ossicles. Viable allografts, contain cells, may be antibiotic-treated, cannot be sterilised: cornea heart valves vessels, skin marrow, blood stem cells vascularised organs semen and oocytes fetal tissue. 	Germany: Pruss A. Tissue donation and virus safety: more nucleic acid amplification testing is needed. Transplant Infectious Dis. 2010. Oct; 12(5):375-85 Institute of Transfusion Medicine, Berlin.	(no references to HTLV). In Germany, donor selection is based on: medical history, behaviour risk factors, physical examination, lab tests, and careful management of the tissue bank. Additional measures: Quarantine storage of the donation allows retesting of living donors after a period of time. Nucleic-acid amplification testing (NAT) makes it possible to avoid the quarantine period. For deceased donors, the first recipient of a transplant should be tested after an appropriate period. NAT used to reduce the residual risk. NAT is recommended for HIV, HVB, HVC for musculoskeletal donors when virus inactivation procedures are not applied, due to high blood content and high donor-recipient ratio;		

	US	Euro	ope
	 Processing techniques that reduce the risk of transmission: Bone: blood and marrow cell purge, ethanol soaks, sterilisation (gamma irradiation, ethylene oxide) Dura mater: sterilisation (gamma irradiation, ethylene oxide) Tendon: gamma irradiation cartilage: disinfection, sterilisation Ear ossicles: disinfection, sterilisation. 		 NAT as an additional safety measure also for cardiovascular tissue donors; NAT for HVC advised for corneal donors; HTLV screening is not required in Germany for epidemiological reasons. Grafts from cadaveric donors might pose a risk as the medical history might be difficult to obtain, frequently only post-mortem blood samples are available for testing. The donor- recipient ratio is high for cadaveric donors. Virus inactivation methods majority are for non-vital musculoskeletal tissues: peracetic acid-ethanol treatment, thermo- disinfection, gamma irradiation, combined methods the inactivation method has to be validated, less than 4 log10 reduction of infectivity (TCID50) for relevant viruses freeze-drying hardly reduces infectivity of HVB, HVC, HIV
Yao F. 2007 Australia. The risk of HIV, HVB, HCV and HTLV among musculoskeletal donors in Australia.	The prevalence of HIV, HVB, HVC and HTLV, although low, are higher among musculoskeletal tissue donors than first-time blood donors (p<0.05)! HTLV prevalence: 121.88/100 000 msk tissue donors HTLV probability of viraemia (residual risk): 1: 118 000, can be reduced by NAT. Musculoskeletal allografts are the most frequently transplanted human tissue after blood.		Bio-burden reduction with gamma irradiation
Levin M. Blood 1997. Extensive latent retroviral infection in bone marrow of patients with HTLV1- associated neurological disease.	Bone marrow (BM) may be an important reservoir of HTLV-I in patients with HTLV-1 associated neurological disease. It is still unknown whether BM from asymptomatic carriers or patients with other HTLV-1 associated diseases also contains high levels of latent retrovirus.		
Yoshio Koyanagi. 1993. Virology. In Vivo Infection of Human T-Cell Leukemia Virus Type I in Non-T Cells	HTLV-I has a broad host range in vivo and monocytes or cells of monocyte lineage such as tissue macrophages might comprise a virus reservoir in vivo. The HTLV infected macrophages/monocytes may contribute to the persistent infection in tissues, including CNS and joints.		

Q3. Effectiveness of measures to prevent HTLV I/II transmission

	US		Europe
 FDA. Guidance for Industry Eligibility Determination for Donors of Human cells, Tissues, and Cellular and Tissue-Based Products (HCT/Ps); August 2007 Note: the FDA document is a guidance document aiming to help establishments to comply with Code of Federal Requirements (21 CFR, part 1271, subpart C); Eligibility di person', au training, a guidance). RCDADs a Relevar - HI - HE Relevar - TS TF Relevar - HI HE HE HC TS TF Relevar - HI HE HC HC TS TF Relevar - CO N Oo TF Relevar - CO N Oo TF Relevar - HI HE HE<!--</td--><td>chor eligibility determination is based on the results of donor screening and testing (1271.80, 1271.85). <i>Some</i> s. eligible only if: ing shows that the donor is free of risk for, and clinical evidence of, infection due <i>vant</i> CD agents and diseases (RCDADs) the of CD risk associated with ansplantation sults for RCDADs are negative or non- the (exception for non-treponemal screening) or syphilis). Hetermination is made by a 'responsible uthorised, trained and qualified (medical dequate knowledge of Federal reg., re: In for ALL types of HCT/Ps: IV 1, 2 BV CV SE, CJD 2 (syphilis) In for viable, leukocyte-rich cells and , including reproductive cells or tissues if the considered to be viable leukocyte-rich n VI.B.2: hematopoietic stem/progenitor emen) TLV types I and II nt for reproductive cells or tissues: hamydia t. eisseria gonorrhoea ther RCDADs (transmissible, life- meatening, available and appropriate creening methods and tests): /est Nile Virus, epsis, accinia (smallpox vaccination) e: all HCT/Ps must be quarantined until n of donor-eligibility determination. screening f information for: tors: medical history interview al examination: a current report of the al assessment of a cadaveric donor or the al assessment of a cadaveric donor or the al examination: a current report of the al assessment of a cadaveric donor or the al examination: a current report of the al assessment of a cadaveric donor or the al examination of a living donor; results of d autopsy, a recent ante-mortem or post- n physical examination ; ory tests results (other than above); police reports ble to donate/ exclusion criteria: who exhibit one or more of the following s (conditions or behaviours): ex, in the preceding five years the preceding five years who had sex with someone in four ing city eyears. s who had sex with someone in four ing city eyears. s who had sex with someone in four ing city eyears. s who had sex with someone in four- ing city eyears. s who ha</td><td>Commission Directive 2006/17/EC: technical requirements for the donation, procurement and testing of human tissues and cells</td><td> Europe (3) The risk of disease transmission and other potential adverse effects can be reduced by careful donor selection, testing of each donation and the application of procedures to procure tissues and cells in accordance with rules and established and updated according to the best available scientific advice. Article 2: requirements for the procurement of HTC; 2-12 Selection criteria for donors: Annex I Laboratory tests required for donors: Annex II Selection criteria, Annex I: Selection criteria, Annex I: Selection of donors is based on a risk analysis. Indicators of risk must be identified by: physical examination, review of medical and behavioural history, biological testing, post-mortem examination, any other when appropriate. Donors must be excluded if/Exclusion criteria: Deceased donors Cause of death unknown, autopsy not relevant; History of disease of unknown aetiology Malignant disease (present or history of). Some exceptions. Can be considered for cornea donation unless retinoblastoma, haematologic neoplasm, malignant tumours of the anterior eye. Risk of prion transmission: history of rapid progressive dementia, degenerative neurological disease, or neurological disease of unknown origin; recipients of parafs of cornea, sclera, dura mater, people who undergone undocumented neurosurgery (where dura mater might have been used); Systemic infection, not controlled at the time of donaton (bacterial, viral, fungal, parasitic), or significant local infection in the tissues to be donated; History of chronic, systemic autoimmune disease that could affect the quality of tissue; Invalid blood tests in case of: haemodilition (Annex II), treatment with immunosuppressive agents; Travel-related risk factors for these infections; History of vaccination with live</td>	chor eligibility determination is based on the results of donor screening and testing (1271.80, 1271.85). <i>Some</i> s. eligible only if: ing shows that the donor is free of risk for, and clinical evidence of, infection due <i>vant</i> CD agents and diseases (RCDADs) the of CD risk associated with ansplantation sults for RCDADs are negative or non- the (exception for non-treponemal screening) or syphilis). Hetermination is made by a 'responsible uthorised, trained and qualified (medical dequate knowledge of Federal reg., re: In for ALL types of HCT/Ps: IV 1, 2 BV CV SE, CJD 2 (syphilis) In for viable, leukocyte-rich cells and , including reproductive cells or tissues if the considered to be viable leukocyte-rich n VI.B.2: hematopoietic stem/progenitor emen) TLV types I and II nt for reproductive cells or tissues: hamydia t. eisseria gonorrhoea ther RCDADs (transmissible, life- meatening, available and appropriate creening methods and tests): /est Nile Virus, epsis, accinia (smallpox vaccination) e: all HCT/Ps must be quarantined until n of donor-eligibility determination. screening f information for: tors: medical history interview al examination: a current report of the al assessment of a cadaveric donor or the al assessment of a cadaveric donor or the al examination: a current report of the al assessment of a cadaveric donor or the al examination: a current report of the al assessment of a cadaveric donor or the al examination of a living donor; results of d autopsy, a recent ante-mortem or post- n physical examination ; ory tests results (other than above); police reports ble to donate/ exclusion criteria: who exhibit one or more of the following s (conditions or behaviours): ex, in the preceding five years the preceding five years who had sex with someone in four ing city eyears. s who had sex with someone in four ing city eyears. s who had sex with someone in four ing city eyears. s who had sex with someone in four- ing city eyears. s who ha	Commission Directive 2006/17/EC: technical requirements for the donation, procurement and testing of human tissues and cells	 Europe (3) The risk of disease transmission and other potential adverse effects can be reduced by careful donor selection, testing of each donation and the application of procedures to procure tissues and cells in accordance with rules and established and updated according to the best available scientific advice. Article 2: requirements for the procurement of HTC; 2-12 Selection criteria for donors: Annex I Laboratory tests required for donors: Annex II Selection criteria, Annex I: Selection criteria, Annex I: Selection of donors is based on a risk analysis. Indicators of risk must be identified by: physical examination, review of medical and behavioural history, biological testing, post-mortem examination, any other when appropriate. Donors must be excluded if/Exclusion criteria: Deceased donors Cause of death unknown, autopsy not relevant; History of disease of unknown aetiology Malignant disease (present or history of). Some exceptions. Can be considered for cornea donation unless retinoblastoma, haematologic neoplasm, malignant tumours of the anterior eye. Risk of prion transmission: history of rapid progressive dementia, degenerative neurological disease, or neurological disease of unknown origin; recipients of parafs of cornea, sclera, dura mater, people who undergone undocumented neurosurgery (where dura mater might have been used); Systemic infection, not controlled at the time of donaton (bacterial, viral, fungal, parasitic), or significant local infection in the tissues to be donated; History of chronic, systemic autoimmune disease that could affect the quality of tissue; Invalid blood tests in case of: haemodilition (Annex II), treatment with immunosuppressive agents; Travel-related risk factors for these infections; History of vaccination with live

Juvenile detention, lock up, jail or prison for more than 72 consecutive hours in the preceding	Living donors (allogeneic) must be selected on the basis
 12 months Household contacts of hepatitis B cases or clinically active hepatitis C in the preceding 12 months Tatooling, body-piercing in the preceding 12 months, with unsterilised instruments History of symptomatic viral hepatits after the 11th birthday (except if HAV, EBV, CMV). A deceased person diagnosed with sepsis Smalpox vaccination in the preceding eight weeks, or if developed complications Vaccinia virus clinic infection through contact with smalpox vaccine recipient Diagnosed with VMV infection (to be deferred for 120 days) A positive test for WMV in the preceding 120 days Syphilis in the preceding 12 months Diagnosed with CDD, CDV Persons who spent three months or more cumulatively in the UK, 1980-1996 US millarty saft who resided in Germany, Belgium, and the Netherlands for more than six months cumulatively 1980-1990, or in Greece, Turkey, Spain, Portugal and Italy for six months, 1980-1996 Persons who spent three wars or more cumulatively in the UK, 1980-1996 Persons who spent five years or more cumulatively in the UK or France, 1980- present Persons who spent five years or more cumulatively in the UK or France, 1980- present Persons who spent five years or more cumulatively in the UK or France, 1980- present Persons who cevied transfusion of blood or blood components in the UK or France, 1980- present Persons who cevied transfusion of blood or blood components in the UK or France, 1980- present Persons who cevied transfusion of any medical trattment involving blood or the countries listed above;	 of their state of health (clinical investigation) and medical and behavioural history (questionnaire, interview), results of lab tests. Same exclusion criteria as for the deceased donors! Supplementary criteria: pregnancy, breastfeeding, potential of transmission of inherted conditions. Laboratory tests required for donors, Annex II: only by qualified, authorised labs using EC-marked testing kits where appropriate on donor's serum or plasma apply algorithms for testing in haemodilution circumstances deceased donors to be tested just prior to death or within seve days post donation repeat sampling and testing of living donors, or within seve days post donation repeat sampling and testing of living donors, or within seve days post donation repeat sampling and testing of living donors, and they spost donation repeat sampling and testing of living donors, and this seve days post donation repeat sampling and testing of living donors, and they spost donation repeat sampling and testing of living donors, and they approve the days is required when fissues and cells can be stored for a longer period. Retesting not required if NAT performed for HIV, HVB, HVC and Virus inact/vation methods were applied. Biological tests required for ALL donors: Anti-HIV1-2, HB&Ag, Anti HBC, Anti HCV-Ab, Syphilis NAT is encouraged where appropriate and available. Tests required for donors living in or originating from high incidence areas: HTLV-1 antibody Additional tests: RhD, HLA, malaria, CMV, toxoplasma, EBV, <i>Tripanosoma cruz</i>;

US		Europe	
	 Unexplained oral thrush Blue or purple spots (Kaposi's sarcoma) Unexplained jaundice, hepatomegaly, icterus Rush, fever (sepsis) Large scal (smallpox vaccination) Eczema vaccinatum Generalised vesicular rash Severely necrotic lesions Corneal scaring Donor testing only FDA licensed lab and tests, tests for cadaveric specimens, collect donor specimen at the same time as HCT/Ps are recovered, or within 7 days before or after HCT/Ps; some exceptions apply (30 days before); recipients of transfusion or infusion might be ineligible Tests required for ALL donor of HCT/Ps: HIV, type 1 (anti HIV-1, or combination anti HIV1-2 and NAT test for HIV-1 or combination NAT) HIV, type 2 (anti HIV-2) or combination anti HIV1-2 and IIAC (ANT) Treponema palidum Tests required for donors of viable, leukocyte rich ells or tissues: HTLV, type I and II CMV 	Council of Europe Guide to safety and quality assurance for the transplantation of organs, tissues and cells 3 rd edition, 2009	 Chapter 3: Selection of donors 3.2.3. Evaluation of the deceased potential donors medical history; behavioural history, travel history; clinical examination (to look for evidence of high risk behaviour, unexplained jaundice, hepatonegaly, neoplastic disease, trauma at site; lab tests: HIV1/2, AgHbs, HBcAb, HCV-Ab, syphilis, CMV, EBV, toxoplasma, HTLV 1, malaria for donors living in or coming from high prevalence areas (ref. WHO website www.who.int/transplantation/en) Exclusion criteria: Transmissible diseases (HIV, active malignant neoplasia, severe systemic infections, prion risk, viral hepatits, Behavioural risks MSM sex, in the preceding 12 months IDU in the preceding 12 months History of chronic haemodialysis Sex in exchange for money or drugs, in the preceding 12 months Persons with haemophilia receiving human derived concentrates Sexual partners of persons with HIV, HVB, HVC history, or infection, or risk factors, in the preceding 12 months Percutaneous exposure to blood thought to be at risk of HIV or hepatits, in the preceding 12 months Diagnosed or treated for syphilis or gonorrhoea in the preceding 12 months Inmates in the preceding 12 months Inmates in the preceding 12 months Inmates in the preceding 12 months Is blood transfused in the preceding 12 months

US		Europe	
Cell Transplantation Infectious disease Transmission through cell, tissue, and organ transplantation: reducing the risk through donor screening 1995, Eastlund Ted -original contribution-	 Measures to prevent transmission: Medical history review- exclusion of those with infections, malignancies, recipients of human pituitary gland hormones Behavioural risk factors for HIV-1 and hepatitis Blood tests: HTLV Physical examination, autopsy examination Additional measures: Aseptic procurement and processing technique Exposure to antibiotics, disinfectants, sterilisation (ethylene oxide, gamma irradiation) may further reduce the risk of transmission. 	can be accepted only after individual approval by a responsible person; - Any previously deferred donor - Unsafe tattoo, piercing in the preceding 12 months - Children less than 18 months from HIV positive mothers, breastfed in the preceding 12 months - History of travel to endemic areas (malaria, rabies, WNV, etc) • Autoimmune diseases: collagen diseases, systemic vasculitis; may require additional investigations. 3.3.3 Evaluation of potential living donors: • medical history, • physical examination, • testing.	